#### University of Connecticut DigitalCommons@UConn

**Doctoral Dissertations** 

University of Connecticut Graduate School

5-4-2016

## Hypoelliptic Heat Kernel on Nilpotent Lie Groups

Malva Asaad University of Connecticut, malva.asaad@uconn.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.uconn.edu/dissertations

#### **Recommended** Citation

Asaad, Malva, "Hypoelliptic Heat Kernel on Nilpotent Lie Groups" (2016). Doctoral Dissertations. Paper 1079.

This Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the University of Connecticut Graduate School at DigitalCommons@UConn. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UConn. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@uconn.edu.

### Hypoelliptic Heat Kernel on Nilpotent Lie Groups

Malva Asaad, Ph.D.

University of Connecticut, 2016

#### ABSTRACT

The starting point of our analysis is an old idea of writing an eigenfunction expansion for a heat kernel considered in the case of a hypoelliptic heat kernel on a nilpotent Lie group. One of the ingredients we have is the generalized Fourier transform. The formula one gets using this approach is explicit as long as we can find all unitary irreducible representations of the group. In this thesis we consider a nilpotent Lie group of step n as an illustration of this technique. First we apply Kirillov's orbit method to describe all unitary irreducible representations for the group. This allows us to write the corresponding hypoelliptic heat kernel using an integral formula over a Euclidean space. As an application, we describe a short-time behaviour of the hypoelliptic heat kernel in our case.

### Hypoelliptic Heat Kernel on Nilpotent Lie Groups

Malva Asaad

M.S. University of Connecticut, 2013B.S. Damascus University, 2009

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

at the

University of Connecticut

Copyright by

Malva Asaad

#### APPROVAL PAGE

Doctor of Philosophy Dissertation

### Hypoelliptic Heat Kernel on Nilpotent Lie Groups

Presented by

Malva Asaad, B.S. Math., M.S. Math.

Major Advisor

Maria Gordina

Associate Advisor

Ovidiu Munteanu

Associate Advisor

Lan-Hsuan Huang

University of Connecticut

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I owe my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Professor Maria Gordina, who kindly supported me during the last five years of studies, always sharing her ideas and willing to be at my disposal. I want to thank my committee members, Professor Ovidiu Munteanu and Professor Lan-Hsuan Huang, and I would also like to thank Professor Reed Solomon for his constant support.

### Contents

Ch. 1.	Introduction	1					
1.1	Generalities	1					
1.2	Outline of this thesis						
Ch. 2.	. Basic theory of nilpotent Lie groups and Lie algebras						
2.1	Nilpotent Lie groups	7					
2.2	Coadjoint orbits and polarizing subalgebras	8					
2.3	An <i>n</i> -step nilpotent Lie group $G_{n+1}$	12 14					
Ch. 3.	Kirillov's orbit method	20					
3.1	Induced representations for nilpotent Lie groups	20					
3.2	Irreducible unitary representations of the group $G_{n+1}$	28					
3.3	Generalized Fourier transform	31					
3.4	The GFT and the Plancherel formula for nilpotent groups $\ . \ . \ .$ .	34					
Ch. 4.	Sub-Riemannian Geometry	40					
4.1	Sub-Riemannian manifolds	40					
	4.1.1 Left-invariant sub-Riemannian structure on Lie groups	43					
4.2	The hypoelliptic Laplacian	45					
	4.2.1 Generalized Fourier transform	49					
Ch. 5.	The hypoelliptic heat kernel on nilpotent Lie groups and some applications 54						
5.1	The hypoelliptic heat kernel on nilpotent Lie groups	54					
5.1	Hypoelliptic heat kernel on the group $G_{n+1}$	64					
0.2	Hypoempule near Kerner on the group $G_{n+1}$	04					

5.3	Short-	time behavior of the hypoelliptic heat kernel and the Trotter	
	produc	et formula	69
	5.3.1	Application to the <i>n</i> -step nilpotent Lie group $G_{n+1}$	73
Bibliog	raphy		77

### Chapter 1

### Introduction

#### 1.1 Generalities

Sub-Riemannian spaces are spaces whose metric structure is viewed as a constrained geometry, with motion only possible along a given set of directions, changing from point to point. Sub-Riemannian geometry emerged through various subjects, including Riemannian geometry, optimal control theory, quantum physics, and classical mechanics. Very recently, it appeared in the field of cognitive neuroscience to model the functional architecture of the area V1 of the primary visual cortex, as proposed by Petitot in [37], and then by Citti and Sarti in [12]. In this context, the sub-Riemannian heat equation has been used as basis for new applications in image reconstruction (see [7]). From the analytical point of view, sub- Riemannian geometry is the geometry underlying the theory of hypoelliptic operators (see [6, 21, 32, 40] and references therein) and many problems of geometric measure theory ([10], [3]).

Roughly speaking, a sub-Riemannian manifold is a  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  manifold M together with

a smoothly varying distribution  $\mathcal{H}$  endowed with a positive definite quadratic form at each point. Riemannian manifolds are special cases where  $\mathcal{H} = TM$ . From this structure, one derives a distance on M, the so-called Carnot-Carathéodory distance. For every pair of points p and q, the distance between p and q is defined as the infimum of the length of horizontal curves (curves on the manifold whose tangents are in  $\mathcal{H}$ ) joining p and q. Of course, a natural question is whether every pair of points can be joined by a horizontal curve. At the end of the 30's, Raschevsky [39] and Chow [11], proved that a sufficient condition for the existence of horizontal curves is that the Lie algebra generated by the horizontal vector fields is equal to the all tangent space to the manifold at every point. This condition usually called a *Lie bracket* generating condition, played subsequently a key role in different areas of mathematics.

Forty years later, in the celebrated work of Hörmander [28], the Lie bracket generating condition was proved to be a sufficient condition for the hypoellipticity of the second order differential operator in the form sum of squares, even if the operator is not elliptic (for this reason this condition is also known as *Hörmander's condition*). Starting from this work, the interplay between sub-Riemannian geometry and the analysis of PDEs become stronger. Since then, many estimates and properties of the kernel in terms of the sub-Riemannian distance have been established (see for example [6, 8] ). For some particular structures, it is moreover possible to find explicit expressions of the hypoelliptic heat kernels. In general, this computation can be performed only when the sub-Riemannian structure and the corresponding hypoelliptic heat operator have symmetry properties. For this reason, the most natural choice in this field is to consider invariant operators defined on Lie groups.

The heat equation on a sub-Riemannian manifold is a natural model for the descrip-

tion of a non isotropic diffusion process on a manifold. It is defined by the second order PDE

$$\partial_t \phi(t, x) = \Delta_H \phi(t, x), \quad t > 0, \ x \in M$$
  
 $\phi(0, x) = \phi_0(x)$ 

where  $\Delta_H$  is the sub-Riemannian Laplacian, which is a hypoelliptic, but not elliptic, second order differential operator, and will be called a hypoelliptic Laplacian or sub-Laplacian.

In this thesis, we will consider the case when M = G is a nilpotent Lie group equipped with a natural sub-Riemannian structure, and it will be shown that the subLaplacian  $\Delta_H$  is the sum of squares of left-invariant vector fields, considered as differential operators. In this case, the solution to the heat equation will admit a right-convolution kernel, i.e. there exists a function  $p_t$ , called *hypoelliptic heat kernel*, such that

$$\phi(t,x) = e^{t\Delta_H}\phi(0,x) = \phi_0 \star p_t(x)$$

The goal of this thesis is to describe such a hypoelliptic heat kernel in a way that allows to study further its properties such as short and long time behavior of such kernels. Results of this kind have been first provided in [29] in the case of the 3D Heisenberg group and for 2-step nilpotent free Lie groups, and then for general 2-step nilpotent Lie groups (see [5]), and more abstract expansion has been presented in [1] of heat kernels for 2-step groups that are not nilpotent, namely SU (2), SO (3), and SL (2). An eigenfunction expansion for the hypoelliptic heat kernel on SU (2) has been also studied in [4]. Moreover, in [9] the authors present expression of the hypoelliptic heat kernel on the following 3-step Lie groups: Engel group that is the nilpotent group with the growth vector (2, 3, 4), and Cartan group that is the free nilpotent group with the growth vector (2, 3, 5).

The method to find an explicit formula for  $p_t$  on nilpotent Lie groups is based on a generalized Fourier transform (GFT). The idea of using the GFT to compute the hypoelliptic heat kernel is not new: it was already used on the Heisenberg group in [29] at the same time as the Gaveau formula was published in [23] and also in the paper by Agrachev et al paper [1]. Informally speaking, GFT can be viewed as a generalized eigenfunction expansion. This requires a complicated machinery such as direct integrals, therefore applying it to an object such as an unbounded operator is not possible in general. This fundamental difficulty has not been addressed in [1], but we make it precise in the case of a connected simply connected nilpotent Lie group G. We also want to point out that even though there are choices to be made for an appropriate measure on a general sub-Riemannian manifold, the use of the GFT forces one to use a Haar measure. This complicated interplay between algebraic and sub-Riemannian structure in the case of Lie groups still needs more study.

The main ingredient in our analysis is Kirillov's orbit method. This technique allows us to describe explicitly the unitary dual of G, that is, the space of equivalency classes of irreducible unitary representations of G. We address the domain issue in Theorem 4.2.12 which does not assume that G is nilpotent. But the description using the orbit method reduces this abstract description to function spaces over a Euclidean space as can be seen in the proof of Theorem 5.1.1. This is our main result, and the explicit formula for the hypoelliptic heat kernel on a nilpotent group in this theorem is the result of applying the GFT to the hypoelliptic Laplacian on G, and then using the inversion formula for this transform. In particular, this formula uses a heat kernel for a certain differential operator on a Euclidean space. This operator is a second order differential operator with polynomial coefficients and a polynomial potential. We present the ingredients of both Kirillov's orbit method and this Schrödinger-like operator in the case of the Heisenberg group and an *n*-step nilpotent group. In these cases this operator is the Schrödinger operator with a quadratic potential on a certain  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . For related results we refer to [30, 31]. The dimension of this Euclidean space and the degree of the potential depend on the structure of *G* in terms of the orbit method. This connection with the heat kernel for such operators provides a way to prove bounds and functional inequalities for the hypoelliptic heat kernel. We only mention a simple estimate in the paper, but we expect that this approach will be used in the future. Moreover, it would be interesting to see if the short time estimates one gets from this analysis can be formulated in terms of the sub-Riemannian distance. Our main new example in the current paper is an *n*-step nilpotent group, though we also mention previously studied examples, such as the Heisenberg group.

#### 1.2 Outline of this thesis

This thesis is organized as follows: in Chapter 2, we start by reviewing some elementary definitions. In particular, we present our main example  $G_{n+1}$  that is an *n*-step nilpotent Lie group of the growth vector (2, 3, ..., n + 1). In Chapter 3, we review Kirillov's orbit method for nilpotent groups and illustrate it by describing explicitly the irreducible representations of the group  $G_{n+1}$ . This turns out to be an inductive generalization of the computations carried out in [34] for the Heisenberg group. In Chapter 4, we recall basic definitions from sub-Riemannian geometry, in particular for left-invariant structures on Lie groups. Moreover, we present definition of the hypoelliptic operator  $\Delta_H$  and show how to compute the generalized Fourier transform of such operator. In Chapter 5, we present our main theorem which gives an explicit formula for the hypoelliptic heat kernel on nilpotent Lie gropus. Then we use the generalized Fourier transform and its properties to describe the hypo-elliptic heat kernel on the group  $G_{n+1}$ . Finally, we use the formula for the hypo-elliptic kernel to study the short-time behaviour of heat kernels. In that we are motivated by the approach introduced by Séguin and Mansouri [41]. Note that we avoid introducing assumptions as in [41, p.3904], as we can use the explicit expressions we derive using the orbit method, and thus avoid ambiguities in their assumptions.

The research presented in this PhD thesis appears in [2].

### Chapter 2

### Basic theory of nilpotent Lie groups and Lie algebras

In this chapter we go over some basic definitions that we will need for the next chapter. Mainly we go over some elements of Kirillov theory. Also we describe our main example  $G_{n+1}$  which is an n-step nilpotent Lie group.

#### 2.1 Nilpotent Lie groups

Consider a Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . We define the descending central series of  $\mathfrak{g}$  to be the series of subalgebras  $\mathfrak{g}^{(i)}$ ,  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $\mathfrak{g}^{(1)} = \mathfrak{g}$ , and  $\mathfrak{g}^{(i+1)} = [\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{(i)}]$  and therefore verifying:  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}^{(1)} \supseteq \mathfrak{g}^{(2)} \supseteq \ldots$ . We say that  $\mathfrak{g}$  is a nilpotent Lie algebra if there exists an  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\mathfrak{g}^{(n+1)} = 0$ . If in addition we have that  $\mathfrak{g}^{(n)} \neq 0$ , we say that  $\mathfrak{g}$  is step-n nilpotent. A nilpotent Lie group G is the unique simply connected Lie group with nilpotent Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . In the nilpotent case the exponential map exp :  $\mathfrak{g} \to G$  becomes an analytic diffeomorphism, which enables us to identify G with

 $\mathbb{R}^n$  where  $n = \dim \mathfrak{g}$ . Indeed, we define coordinates on G by  $\exp(t_1X_1 + \cdots + t_nX_n) \sim (t_1, \cdots, t_n)$ , and by the Baker-Campbell-Dynkin-Hausdorff formula  $\exp(X) \exp(Y) = \exp(Z)$ , where:

$$Z = X + Y + \frac{1}{2}[X, Y] + \frac{1}{12}[X, [X, Y]] - \frac{1}{12}[Y, [X, Y]] + \cdots$$

(see for example [14, Section 1.2] for the exact formula), which is a finite expression when G is a nilpotent group.

#### 2.2 Coadjoint orbits and polarizing subalgebras

Let G be a nilpotent Lie group with Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ , and denote the dual of  $\mathfrak{g}$  by  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ . Recall that a Lie group G acts on its Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  by the *adjoint action* 

$$\operatorname{Ad}_{g} X := gXg^{-1}, g \in G, X \in \mathfrak{g},$$

and G acts on the dual space  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  by the *coadjoint action* as follows

$$Ad_{g}^{*}l(X) := l\left(g^{-1}Xg\right), g \in G, l \in \mathfrak{g}^{*}, X \in \mathfrak{g}.$$

This map is of central importance in the reprentation theory of nilpotent Lie groups. It will turn out that the set of (equivalence classes of ) irreducible unitary representations of G is naturally parametrized by the orbits of  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  under the coadjoint map. The orbit of l in  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  under the coadjoint action  $Ad^*$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{O}_l$ . The differential  $d(Ad^*)_e$  of the coadjoint map at the unit  $e \in G$  may be written

$$ad^*: \mathfrak{g} \to End(\mathfrak{g}^*)$$

and given by

$$((ad^*X)l)(Y) = l([Y,X]), \quad X, Y \in \mathfrak{g}, l \in \mathfrak{g}^*.$$

**Definition 2.2.1.** For an element  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  we define its *radical* by

$$rad_l := \{Y \in \mathfrak{g} : l[X, Y] = 0 \text{ for all } X \in \mathfrak{g}\}.$$

An equivalent description of the radical is given by

$$rad_{l} = \{Y \in \mathfrak{g} : ((ad_{Y})^{*}l)(X) = 0 \text{ for all } X \in \mathfrak{g}\},\$$

and  $rad_l$  is a subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

**Proposition 2.2.2.** If  $\mathfrak{g}$  is a Lie algebra and  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , its radical rad<sub>l</sub> has even codimension in  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Hence coadjoint orbits are of even dimension.

*Proof.* See [14, lemma 1.3.2]

The next step in Kirillov's method is to find a polarizing subalgebra.

**Definition 2.2.3.** An ideal  $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathfrak{g}$  is called a *polarizing (or maximal subordinate)* subalgebra for l if it satisfies

- 1.  $rad_l \subset \mathfrak{m};$
- 2. dim  $\mathfrak{m} = \frac{\dim rad_l + \dim \mathfrak{g}}{2};$

3.  $l([\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{m}]) = 0.$ 

The last property means that this subalgebra is subordinate for l, and the second one indicates that the subalgebra is of maximal dimension. The first property is actually a result proven first by Pukánszky in [38, p. 157]. Recall that for a nilpotent Lie algebra such a subalgebra always exists by [14, Theorem 1.3.3].

**Remark 2.2.4.** As [14, p.30] says for each  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  its radical is uniquely determined, but there might be more than one polarizing subalgebra for l. When one wants to avoid this ambiguity, one can use Vergne's construction in [45, 46] which gives a canonical way to choose a polarizing subalgebra for  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  and a strong Mal'cev basis in  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

**Example 2.2.5** (The abelian case  $G = \mathbb{R}^n$ ). Here  $\mathfrak{g} \cong \mathbb{R}^n$ , with all brackets trivial. For  $x \in G$  and  $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ , we have

$$(Ad_x)X = X$$

thus  $Ad_x = I$ ; hence  $Ad^* = I$ , all  $x \in G$ , and the  $Ad^*$ -orbits in  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  are points. For all  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , we have  $rad_l = \mathfrak{g}$  and the only polarizing subalgebra for l must be  $\mathfrak{g}$ , since  $\dim rad_l = \dim \mathfrak{g}$ .

**Example 2.2.6** (The Heisenberg group). The Heisenberg group is the unique simply connected Lie group  $G_3$  whose Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_3$  is spanned by elements  $X, Y_1$  and  $Y_2$ , where  $[X, Y_1] = Y_2$  is the only non-zero bracket relation between these generators. Hence  $\mathfrak{g}_3$  is a two-step nilpotent Lie algebra. The corresponding Lie group  $G_3$  can be identified with  $\mathbb{R}^3$  endowed with the operation  $(a, b_1, b_2).(a', b'_1, b'_2) = (a + a', b_1 + b'_1, b_2 + b' + 2 + \frac{1}{2}(ab'_1 - b_1a'))$  One way to realize  $\mathfrak{g}_3$  as a matrix algebra is to let

 $W = aX + b_1Y_1 + b_2Y_2 \in \mathfrak{g}_3$  correspond to the  $3 \times 3$  matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & a & b_2 \\ 0 & 0 & b_1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathfrak{g}_3.$$

On the other hand, an element  $w = \exp(xX + y_1Y_1 + y_2Y_2)$  of the Lie group  $G_3$  can be view as

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & x & z \\ 0 & 1 & y_1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ where } z = y_2 + \frac{1}{2}xy_1.$$

The adjoint action is give by

$$\operatorname{Ad}_{w} W := wWw^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a & b_{2} + xb_{1} - ay_{1} \\ 0 & 0 & b_{1} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Let  $l \in \mathfrak{g}_3^*$ , then l can be written in terms of the dual basis  $\{X^*, Y_1^*, Y_2^*\}$  and we have

$$l = \alpha X^* + \beta_1 Y_1^* + \beta_2 Y_2^* := l_{\alpha, \beta_1, \beta_2}$$

therefore we have the coadjoint action

$$\begin{aligned} Ad_w^*(l)(W) &= l(Ad_{w^{-1}}W) &= l[aX + b_1Y_1 + [b_2 + (ay_1 - xb_1)]Y_2] \\ &= \alpha a + \beta_1 b_1 + \beta_2 [b_2 + (ay_1 - xb_1)] \\ &= a(\alpha + y_1\beta_2) + b_1(\beta_1 - x\beta_2) + b_2\beta_2 \\ &= l_{\alpha + y_1\beta_2, \beta_1 - x\beta_2, \beta_2} \end{aligned}$$

We have now two cases:

Case 1:  $\beta_2 = 0$  then  $(Ad^*G_3)l_{\alpha,\beta_1,\beta_2} = \{l_{\alpha,\beta_1,0}\}$  and we get zero dimensional orbits which are points in  $\mathcal{Z}^{\perp} = \mathbb{R}X^* + \mathbb{R}Y_1^* = \{l \in \mathfrak{g}_3^*, \ l(Y_2) = 0\}$ . In this case,  $\mathfrak{g}_3$  is the radical and the only polarizing subalgebra.

Case 2:  $\beta_2 \neq 0$  then  $(Ad^*G_3)l_{\alpha,\beta_1,\beta_2} = \{l_{\alpha',\beta'_1,\beta_2}, \alpha, \beta'_1 \in \mathbb{R}\}$  and we get in this case two dimensional orbits of the form

$$\beta_2 Y_2^* + \mathcal{Z}^\perp.$$

and in this case  $rad_l = \mathbb{R}Y_2$ , and as examples of polarizing subalgebras we have

$$\mathfrak{m} = \operatorname{Span} \{Y_1, Y_2\} \text{ or } \mathfrak{m} = \operatorname{Span} \{X, Y_2\}$$

#### **2.3** An *n*-step nilpotent Lie group $G_{n+1}$

We would like to illustrate how to find these objects by considering an *n*-step nilpotent Lie group  $G_{n+1}$  also known as a thread-like group. Let  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$  be an (n+1)-dimensional Lie algebra generated by  $X, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n$  satisfying

$$[X, Y_i] = Y_{i+1}, [X, Y_n] = 0$$
, and  $[Y_i, Y_j] = 0$  for all  $i, j$ .

This is an *n*-step nilpotent Lie algebra. A realization of  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$  as a matrix algebra is obtained by letting  $W = aX + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i Y_i$  corresponding to the  $(n+1) \times (n+1)$  matrix of  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$ 

$\int 0$	a	0	0	 0	$b_n$
0	0			 0	$b_{n-1}$
0	0	0	a	 0	$b_{n-1}$
:	:	:		÷	:
0	0	0	0	 a	$b_2$
0	0	0	0	0	$b_1$
$\left( 0 \right)$	0	0	0	 0	0 )

Let  $G_{n+1}$  be a connected, simply connected nilpotent Lie group, with the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$ , then the exponential map  $\exp : \mathfrak{g}_{n+1} \to G_{n+1}$  is an analytic diffeomorphism. Moreover, if

$$W = aX + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i Y_i \in \mathfrak{g}_{n+1},$$

then

$$w = \exp\left(aX + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i Y_i\right) \in G_{n+1}$$

can be written as

$$w = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a & \frac{a^2}{2!} & \frac{a^3}{3!} & \cdots & z_n \\ 0 & 1 & a & \frac{a^2}{2!} & \cdots & z_{n-1} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & a & \cdots & z_{n-2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & z_1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.3.1)

where

$$z_j := \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} \frac{a^k b_{j-k}}{(k+1)!}, j = 1, \dots, n.$$
(2.3.2)

### 2.3.1 Coadjoint action, coadjoint orbits and polarizing subalgebras for $G_{n+1}$

Suppose

$$W = aX + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i Y_i \in \mathfrak{g}_{n+1},$$
$$w = \exp(xX + \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i Y_i) \in G_{n+1},$$

then the adjoint action is given by

$$Ad_{w}W = wWw^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \xi_{n} \\ 0 & 0 & a & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \xi_{n-1} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a & \cdots & 0 & \xi_{n-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & a & \xi_{2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \xi_{1} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$\xi_j = b_j + \sum_{k=1}^{j-1} \frac{x^{k-1}}{k!} (xb_{j-k} - ay_{j-k})$$

Finally using the basis  $\{X, Y_1, ..., Y_n\}$  of  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$  and the dual basis  $\{X^*, Y_1^*, ..., Y_n^*\}$  of  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}^*$ , to see that the co-adjoint action is given by

$$\begin{aligned} Ad_w^*(l)(W) &= l(Ad_{w^{-1}}W) &= a\left(\alpha + \sum_{i=2}^n \beta_i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{i-1} (-1)^{k+1} y_{i-k} \frac{x^{k-1}}{k!}\right)\right) \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n \left(b_j \sum_{k=j}^n \beta_k (-1)^{k-j} \frac{x^{k-j}}{(k-j)!}\right), \end{aligned}$$

for any  $l = \alpha X^* + \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i Y_i^* \in \mathfrak{g}_{n+1}^*$ .

For  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  we define the polynomial function

$$f_j(x; \mathbf{B}_m) := \sum_{k=j}^m (-1)^{k-j} \frac{\beta_k}{\beta_m^{k-j}} \frac{(\beta_{m-1} - x)^{k-j}}{(k-j)!},$$
(2.3.3)

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathbf{B}_m = (\beta_1, \beta_2, ..., \beta_m) \in \mathbb{R}^m, \beta_m \neq 0$ .

Observe that the orbit  $\mathcal{O}_l$  of  $l = \alpha X^* + \beta_1 Y_1^* + \dots + \beta_m Y_m^*$  with  $\beta_m \neq 0$  under

the coadjoint action is two-dimensional if  $m \ge 3$  and is given by

$$\mathcal{O}_{l} = \mathcal{O}_{(\alpha, \mathbf{B}_{m}, 0, \dots, 0)} = \left\{ yX^{*} + \sum_{j=1}^{m-2} f_{j}(x; \mathbf{B}_{m})Y_{j}^{*} + xY_{m-1}^{*} + \beta_{m}Y_{m}^{*}, x, y \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$$

Here we identified  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  with  $(\alpha, \mathbf{B}_m, 0, ..., 0)$ . In case of m = 2 then the orbit of  $l = \alpha X^* + \beta_1 Y_1^* + \beta_2 Y_2^*$  is again two-dimensional and has the following form:

$$\mathcal{O}_{l} = \mathcal{O}_{(\alpha,\beta_{1},\beta_{2},0,\dots,0)} = \{ pX^{*} + qY_{1}^{*} + \beta_{2}Y_{2}^{*}, p, q \in \mathbb{R} \}$$

and in this case

$$rad_l = \{b_2Y_2 + \dots + b_nY_n, b_i \in \mathbb{R}\}$$

Finally, in the case where m = 1 then the orbit of  $l = \alpha X^* + \beta_1 Y_1^*$  is a zero-dimensional orbit (point orbits)

$$\mathcal{O}_l = \mathcal{O}_{(\alpha,\beta_1,0,\dots,0)} = \{\alpha X^* + \beta_1 Y_1^*\}.$$

and in this case  $rad_l = \mathfrak{g}$ .

**Proposition 2.3.1.** For any  $l \in \mathfrak{g}_{n+1}^*$  and  $m \ge 3$ 

$$rad_{l} = \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{m-3} b_{j} \left( Y_{j} - \frac{f_{j+1}(0; \mathbf{B}_{m})}{\beta_{m}} Y_{m-1} \right) + b_{m-2} Y_{m-2} + b_{m} Y_{m} + \dots + b_{n} Y_{n} \right\}$$

for some  $\mathbf{B}_m$ , where  $f_{j+1}(0; \mathbf{B}_m)$  is defined by (2.3.3).

*Proof.* Note that the definition of the radical is independent of the representative in

$$l = \sum_{j=1}^{m-2} f_j(0; \mathbf{B}_m) Y_j^* + \beta_m Y_m^*.$$
 (2.3.4)

An arbitrary element of  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$  is of the form

$$Z = aX + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i Y_i$$

and therefore

$$[X, Z] = b_1 Y_2 + \dots + b_{n-1} Y_n,$$
  
 $[Y_{m-1}, Z] = -aY_m.$ 

Thus

$$rad_{l} = \{ Z \in \mathfrak{g}_{n+1} \colon l[X, Z] = l[Y_{1}, Z] = \cdots = l[Y_{n}, Z] = 0 \},\$$

and so we get the relations

$$\beta_m a = 0,$$
  

$$\beta_3 b_2 = 0 \text{ if } m = 3,$$
  

$$\beta_m b_{m-1} + \sum_{j=2}^{m-2} b_{j-1} f_j(0; \beta_1, ..., \beta_m) = 0 \text{ if } m \ge 4.$$

Recall that  $\beta_m \neq 0$ , and therefore it is enough to consider two cases as follows. Case 1: m = 3. In this case  $a = b_2 = 0$  and the radical is

$$rad_{l} = \text{Span} \{Y_{1}, Y_{3}, Y_{4}, ..., Y_{n}\}.$$

Case 2:  $m \ge 4$ . In this case we get a = 0 and

$$b_{m-1} = -\sum_{j=2}^{m-2} \frac{b_{j-1}}{\beta_m} f_j(0; \mathbf{B}_m).$$

Now we can describe polarizing algebras for  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$  explicitly.

**Proposition 2.3.2.** Suppose  $l = \alpha X^* + \beta_1 Y_1^* + \cdots + \beta_m Y_m^* \in \mathfrak{g}_{n+1}^*$  with  $\beta_m \neq 0$  for some  $m \geq 3$ , then a polarizing algebra for l is unique, and is given by

$$\mathfrak{m} = \operatorname{Span} \left\{ Y_1, \dots, Y_n \right\}.$$

*Proof.* By proposition 2.3.1 we see that dim  $rad_l = n - 1$  and since dim  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1} = n + 1$ , we have dim  $\mathfrak{m} = n$ . This means that to find a polarizing subalgebra it is enough to add one element  $Y \in \mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$  to  $rad_l$  such that Y is linearly independent of  $rad_l$  and the ideal generated by  $rad_l$  and Y is not the whole algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$ . It can be easily seen that such an  $\mathfrak{m}$  is unique and it is equal to

$$\mathfrak{m} = \operatorname{Span} \{Y_1, \dots, Y_n\}$$

as long as  $m \ge 3$  in (2.3.4).

For the case m = 2 the orbit is again two-dimensional, but the polarizing subalgebra is not unique. For example, the following two ideals are polarizing subalgebras

$$\mathfrak{m}_1 = \operatorname{Span} \{Y_1, Y_2, ..., Y_n\}, \text{ or}$$
$$\mathfrak{m}_2 = \operatorname{Span} \{X, Y_2, ..., Y_n\}.$$

Finally, for m = 1 the zero-dimensional orbits are one–point orbits, namely,

$$\mathcal{O}_{(\alpha,\beta_1,0,...,0)} = \{l_{\alpha,\beta_1,0,...,0}\},\$$

in which case  $rad_l = \mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$ .

### Chapter 3

### Kirillov's orbit method

Kirillov's theory gives an explicit description of irreducible unitary representations of a nilpotent Lie group. The main ingredient of Kirillov's theory is the set of the orbits of the coadjoint action. Namely, the coadjoint map allows to describe all irreducible unitary representations of G: the set of equivalency classes of all irreducible unitary representations of G are naturally parameterized by the orbits of  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  under the coadjoint action. In this chapter, we first review Kirillov's orbit theory following [34], [14, Section 3.1], and then apply it to an *n*-step nilpotent Lie group  $G_{n+1}$  which allows us to describe explicitly all irreducible representations of  $G_{n+1}$ .

#### 3.1 Induced representations for nilpotent Lie groups

To apply Kirillov's orbit method to the representation theory of nilpotent groups we first recall some basic facts about induced representations which can be found in [14, 22] among many other references. **Definition 3.1.1.** The set  $\widehat{G}$  of equivalence classes of irreducible unitary representations of a locally compact group G is called the *(unitary) dual space* of G.

If M is a closed connected subgroup of G, we can use the induction procedure to describe representations of G via representations of M. Suppose  $(\chi, \mathcal{H}_{\chi})$  is a representation of M. Then  $(\chi, \mathcal{H}_{\chi})$  yields a natural representation  $\pi = \text{Ind}(M \uparrow G, \chi)$ of G in a new Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ . We start by constructing the representation Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ . This space is defined as a Hilbert space of equivalence classes of Borel measurable vector-valued functions  $f: G \to \mathcal{H}_{\chi}$  such that

$$f(mg) = \chi(m)^{-1} f(g), m \in M, g \in G,$$
  
$$\int_{G/M} \|f(g)\|^2 d\mu(g) < \infty,$$
 (3.1.1)

where  $\mu(g)$  is a left-invariant measure on G/M.

Note that in our case both G and M are nilpotent and thus unimodular, and therefore such a measure always exists on the homogeneous space G/M (e.g. [14, Lemma 1.2.13]). In measure–theoretical terms the measure  $\mu$  is the pushforward of the Haar measure dg by the quotient map

$$q: G \longrightarrow G/M,$$
  

$$q(g) := gM.$$
(3.1.2)

For nilpotent groups the induction procedure described above is applied to a

particular choice of the representation  $\chi$ , namely, for a fixed  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  we define the character of M by

$$\chi_{l}\left(\exp\left(X\right)\right) := \exp\left(2\pi i l\left(X\right)\right), X \in \mathfrak{m},\tag{3.1.3}$$

where we used the fact that exp :  $\mathfrak{m} \longrightarrow M$  is a (global) diffeomorphism. In this case we choose the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}}$  to be the Hilbert space of equivalence classes of Borel measurable functions  $f : G \to \mathbb{C}$  satisfying (3.1.1). Note that the map  $g \mapsto ||f(g)||^2$  is constant on each left coset, so the integral in (3.1.1) exists. The space  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}}$  is a completion of the space of such functions with respect to the inner product

$$\langle f_1(g), f_2(g) \rangle := \int_{G/M} \langle f_1(g), f_2(g) \rangle d\mu(g)$$

which is again well-defined since  $\langle f_1(g), f_2(g) \rangle$  is constant on each left coset.

Finally the induced representation  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  is defined by letting G act on the right as follows

$$\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(x)f(g) := f(x^{-1}g), \text{ for all } x \in G, f \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}},$$

which is a unitary operation. This is an irreducible representation of G on  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}}$ , and any irreducible representation of G can be written as an induced representation for some  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  and any polarizing subalgebra  $\mathfrak{m}$  for l by 3.1.4. That is, for any  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ and two polarizing subalgebras these representations are unitarily equivalent.

By [14, pp. 124-125] and [22, p. 159] there is an isometry between  $\mathcal{H}_{\chi}$  and  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^k, dx)$  for some k with respect to the Lebesgue measure dx. This allows us to find a representation on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^k, dx)$  which is unitarily equivalent to  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$ . Moreover, we can identify smooth vectors  $C^{\infty}$  of the representation  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  with the Schwartz space

on this  $\mathbb{R}^k$ .

To make these isometries more explicit in the nilpotent case we need to choose a weak Mal'cev basis of  $\mathfrak{g}$  passing through  $\mathfrak{m}$ , that is, a basis  $\{X_1, ..., X_n\}$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  such that  $\{X_1, ..., X_k\}$  is a basis of  $\mathfrak{m}$ , and  $\text{Span}\{X_1, ..., X_j\}$  is a subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$  for any  $1 \leq j \leq n$ . This basis allows us to have an explicit description of G/M as described by the following theorem which is based on [14, Theorem 1.2.12].

**Theorem 3.1.2.** Let  $\mathfrak{m}$  be a k-dimensional subalgebra of the nilpotent Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ , let  $M = \exp(\mathfrak{m})$  and  $G = \exp(\mathfrak{g})$ , and let  $\{X_1, ..., X_n\}$  be a weak Mal'cev basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$ through  $\mathfrak{m}$ . Define  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^{n-k} \to G/M$  by

$$\phi(x_1, \dots, x_{n-k}) := \exp(x_1 X_{k+1}) \cdots \exp(x_{n-k} X_n) \cdot M.$$
(3.1.4)

Then  $\phi$  is an analytic diffeomorphism which is also a measure space isomorphism from  $(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ , where dx is the Lebesgue measure, onto  $(G/M, \mu)$ , where  $\mu$  is the left-invariant measure on G/M.

Denote

$$\gamma : \mathbb{R}^{n-k} \longrightarrow G,$$
  

$$\gamma (x_1, \dots, x_{n-k}) := \exp(x_1 X_{k+1}) \cdot \dots \cdot \exp(x_{n-k} X_n), \qquad (3.1.5)$$

and recall that the quotient map  $q : G \longrightarrow G/M$  in (3.1.2) is a measure space isomorphism. Then the map  $\phi$  in Theorem 3.1.2 can be written as

$$\phi = q \circ \gamma.$$

Observe that the map

$$\psi : \mathbb{R}^{n-k} \times M \longrightarrow G, \tag{3.1.6}$$
$$(x,m) \longmapsto \gamma(x) m$$

is a diffeomorphism from  $\mathbb{R}^{n-k} \times M$  onto G. We denote the inverse of this map by

$$\psi^{-1} := (\rho_1, \rho_2), \text{ where}$$
  
 $\rho_1 : G \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{n-k},$ 
  
 $\rho_2 : G \longrightarrow M$ 
(3.1.7)

Using the diffeomorphism  $\psi$  and the fact that by Theorem 3.1.2 the map  $\phi$  is a measure space diffeomorphism from  $(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$  onto  $(G, d\mu)$  we can induce a unitary isomorphism

$$J: L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}},$$

$$(3.1.8)$$

$$(Jf)(\gamma(x), m) := \chi_{l}(m)^{-1} f(x), \text{ for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^{n-k}, m \in M, f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx).$$

It is easy to see that  $Jf \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}}$  since it satisfies (3.1.1), and the inverse map is given by

$$J^{-1}: \mathcal{H}_{\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}} \longrightarrow L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx),$$
$$(J^{-1}h)(x) := h(\gamma(x)), \text{ for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^{n-k}, h \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}}.$$

Finally, we can describe a unitary representation of G on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$  which is unitarily equivalently to  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$ . Namely,

$$(U_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(g) f)(x) := \chi_l(\rho_2(\gamma(x)g)) f(\rho_1(\gamma(x)g)), \qquad (3.1.9)$$
  
for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx), g \in G, a.e. x \in \mathbb{R}^{n-k}.$ 

The unitary equivalency of  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  and  $U_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  can be shown by using the map J

$$J^{-1}\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}J = U_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$$

Note that this unitary representation  $U_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  depends on the choice of the weak Mal'cev basis, but any of these choices gives rise to unitarily equivalent representations.

**Remark 3.1.3.** We will abuse notation and denote the representation  $U_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  by  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$ whenever it is clear that the representation space is  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ .

The following results [14, Section 2.2] describe the unitary dual  $\hat{G}$  in terms of these induced representations.

**Theorem 3.1.4.** 1. Let  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ . Then there exists a polarizing subalgebra  $\mathfrak{m}$  for l such that  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  is irreducible.

- Let l ∈ g\*, and let m, m' be two polarizing subalgerbras for l. Then π<sub>l,m</sub> ≅ π<sub>l,m'</sub>. (Hence we write π<sub>l</sub> for π<sub>l,m</sub> if we are interested only in equivalence classes of unitary representations.)
- Let π be any irreducible unitary representation of G. Then there is an l ∈ g<sup>\*</sup> such that π<sub>l</sub> ≃ π.
- 4. Let  $l, l' \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ . Then  $\pi_l \cong \pi_{l'} \Rightarrow l$  and l' are in the same  $Ad^*G$ -orbit in  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ .

To summarize, the map  $l \to \pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  is independent of  $\mathfrak{m}$  and gives a bijection between the orbits  $\mathfrak{g}^*/Ad^*(G)$  and  $\widehat{G}$ 

**Example 3.1.5.**  $G = \mathbb{R}^n$ . As is well known,  $\widehat{G} \cong \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^n$  corresponding to the 1-dimensional representation  $\chi_{\lambda} : G \to S^1$  defined by

$$\chi_{\lambda}(x) = e^{2i\pi\lambda\dot{x}}$$

Furthermore,  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}^* = \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $Ad_x, Ad_x^*$  are the identity map for all  $x \in G$ . Thus  $\mathfrak{g}^*/Ad^*(G) = \mathbb{R}^n$  and it is easy to see that  $l \to \pi_l$  is the map  $l \to \chi_l$ .

**Example 3.1.6.** Lets go back again to the Heisenberg case and describe all the irreducible representations of  $G_3$ . From Example 2.2.6 we see that the  $Ad^*G$ -orbits in  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  are given by

- 1. the hyperplanes  $\beta_2 Y_2^* + \mathcal{Z}^{\perp} \ (\beta_2 \neq 0).$
- 2. the elements of the hyperplane  $\mathcal{Z}^{\perp}$  (one-point orbits).

If  $l \in \mathcal{Z}^{\perp}$  then  $\mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{g}$  is the only polarizing subalgebra for l, and induction from

 $M = \exp \mathfrak{m}$  is trivial. Thus,

$$\pi_l = \chi_l$$
, where  $\chi_l(\exp W) = e^{2i\pi l(W)}, W \in \mathfrak{g}$ 

and these are one-dimensional unitary representations.

The other representations of G, corresponding to the two-dimensional orbits are more interesting. Since  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  is independent of the orbit representative l, or the polarizing subalgebra  $\mathfrak{m}$ , it is convenient to take orbit representatives  $l = \lambda Y_2^*$  ( $\lambda \neq 0$ ) and polarizing  $\mathfrak{m} = \text{Span} \{Y_1, Y_2\}$ . Then

$$\chi_l \left( \exp \left( b_1 Y_1 + b_2 Y_2 \right) \right) = e^{2i\pi\beta_2 b_2}$$

is a character on  $M = \exp \mathfrak{m}$ , which induces to a representation  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}} = \operatorname{Ind}(M \uparrow G_3, \chi_l)$ on G. Using the argument above we can describe the action of  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, dt)$ . For  $(b_2, b_1, a) = \exp(aX + b_1Y_1 + b_2Y_2)$  we have

$$(0,0,t) \cdot (b_1,b_2,a) = (b_2 + tb_1 + \frac{ab_1}{2}, b_1, 0) \cdot (0,0,t+a)$$

then

$$\rho_1(\gamma(t)g) = \rho_1((0,0,t) \cdot (b_1, b_2, a)) = \rho_1(0,0,t+a) = t+a$$
  

$$\rho_2(\gamma(t)g) = \rho_2((0,0,t) \cdot (b_1, b_2, a)) = \rho_2(b_2 + tb_1 + \frac{ab_1}{2}, b_1, 0) = (b_2 + tb_1 + \frac{ab_1}{2}, b_1)$$

Therefore the irreducible representation  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  is given by

$$\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(b_2, b_1, a)f(t) = \chi_l\left(\rho_2\left(\gamma\left(t\right)g\right)\right)f\left(\rho_1\left(\gamma\left(t\right)g\right)\right) = e^{2\pi i\beta_2(b_2 + tb_1 + \frac{1}{2}ab_1)}f(t+a).$$

# **3.2** Irreducible unitary representations of the group $G_{n+1}$

Now we apply the induction procedure described in Section 3.1 to the group  $G_{n+1}$  introduced in Section 2.3.

First we identify a point  $(\mathbf{b}, a) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  with a point in the group  $G_{n+1}$  by

$$(\mathbf{b}, a) := \exp(b_n Y_n + b_{n-1} Y_{n-1} + \dots + b_1 Y_1 + aX)$$

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Let  $G_{n+1}$  be the n-step nilpotent Lie group described in Section 2.3, then all (nonequivalent) unitary irreducible representations of  $G_{n+1}$  are as follows.

1. The infinite dimensional representations of  $G_{n+1}$  on the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi} = L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$  are given by

$$\pi_{l}(\mathbf{b}, a) f(x) := e^{2\pi i l \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} B_{k}(x) Y_{k}\right)} f(x+a),$$
  
$$B_{k}(x) := \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{z_{i}}{(k-i)!} x^{k-i}, k = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
 (3.2.1)

for  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx), x \in \mathbb{R}, l \in \mathcal{O}_{(\alpha, \mathbf{B}_m, 0, \dots, 0)}, 3 \leq m \leq n$ .

2. The one-dimensional unitary representations (characters) on  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi} = \mathbb{C}$  are given by

$$\pi_l(\mathbf{b}, a) = e^{2\pi i (\alpha a + \beta_1 b_1)} I, \quad l \in \mathcal{O}_{(\alpha, \beta_1, 0, \dots, 0)}$$

*Proof.* First we describe the representations of  $G_{n+1}$  corresponding to the two-dimensional orbits, that is,

$$\mathcal{O}_{(\alpha,\mathbf{B}_m,0,\dots,0)} = \left\{ xX^* + \sum_{j=1}^{m-2} f_j(y;\mathbf{B}_m)Y_j^* + yY_{m-1}^* + \beta_m Y_m^* \colon x, y \in \mathbb{R}, m \ge 2 \right\}$$

with  $\mathbf{B}_m$  defined by (2.3.3) and

$$l = \sum_{j=1}^{m-2} f_j(0; \mathbf{B}_m) Y_j^* + \beta_m Y_m^*$$

being orbit representatives for  $\beta_m \neq 0$  for the polarizing subalgebra

$$\mathfrak{m} = \operatorname{Span} \left\{ Y_1, Y_2, ..., Y_n \right\}.$$

Then for  $W = \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i Y_i$  and this choice of l and  $\mathfrak{m}$  we see that as in (3.1.3)

$$\chi_l\left(\exp(W)\right) = e^{2\pi i l(W)}$$

defines a character of the subgroup  $M = \exp(\mathfrak{m})$ . Using (3.1.6) we identify G with

$$\mathbb{R}\times\exp(\mathfrak{m})$$

via the diffeomorphism  $\psi$ . Now we can describe the action of  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$ . For  $(\mathbf{b}, a) = \exp(b_n Y_n + b_{n-1} Y_{n-1} + \ldots + b_1 Y_1 + aX)$  we have

$$(0, \dots, 0, x) \cdot (\mathbf{b}, a) = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} z_i \frac{x^{n-i}}{(n-i)!}, \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} z_i \frac{x^{n-1-i}}{(n-1-i)!}, \dots, z_1, 0\right) \cdot (0, \dots, 0, x+a),$$

where  $z_i$  are defined 2.3.2. In terms of (3.1.7) this identity can be written as

$$\rho_{1}(\gamma(x)g) = \rho_{1}((0,...,0,x) \cdot (\mathbf{b},a)) = \rho_{1}((0,...,0,x+a))$$

$$= x + a,$$

$$\rho_{2}(\gamma(x)g) = \rho_{2}((0,...,0,x) \cdot (\mathbf{b},a)) =$$

$$\rho_{2}\left(\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} z_{i} \frac{x^{n-i}}{(n-i)!}, \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} z_{i} \frac{x^{n-1-i}}{(n-1-i)!}, \dots, z_{1}, 0\right)\right) =$$

$$(B_{n}(x), B_{n-1}(x), \dots, B_{1}(x)),$$

where

$$B_k(x) = \sum_{i=1}^k z_i \frac{x^{k-i}}{(k-i)!}, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Identifying  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}}$  with  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}, dx)$  we see that

$$\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{b},a)f(x) = \chi_l\left(\rho_2\left(\gamma\left(x\right)g\right)\right)f\left(\rho_1\left(\gamma\left(x\right)g\right)\right)$$
$$= e^{2\pi i l\left(\sum_{k=1}^n B_k(x)Y_k\right)}f(x+a).$$

Now, for the one-point orbit  $\mathcal{O}_{(\alpha,\beta_1,0,\dots,0)} = \{\alpha X^* + \beta_1 Y_1^*\}, \alpha, \beta_1 \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have seen that  $\mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$  and induction from  $M = \exp(\mathfrak{m})$  is trivial. Thus  $\pi_l = \chi_l$  is one-dimensional

$$\pi_l(\mathbf{b}, a) = e^{2\pi i (\alpha a + \beta_1 b_1)} I$$

with  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi_l} = \mathbb{C}$ .

#### 3.3 Generalized Fourier transform

We start by reviewing the generalized Fourier transform (GFT) as described in [22, Section 7.5]. First we assume that G is a separable locally compact unimodular Lie group of type I (see [14]), and  $L^p(G, \mathbb{C})$  denotes the space of complex-valued functions on G which are square-integrable with respect to the Haar measure dg. Later we consider this setting in the case when G is an addition nilpotent.

Recall that we defined  $\widehat{G}$  to be the (unitary) dual space of G in Definition 3.1.1. The structure of the dual  $\widehat{G}$  can be described explicitly for some classes of groups such as locally compact Abelian or compact groups. Another class of groups for which one can find an explicit description of  $\widehat{G}$  is of simply connected nilpotent Lie groups as we described in Section 3.1.

**Remark 3.3.1.** The GFT is usually defined using the structure of  $\widehat{G}$  as a measurable space, and therefore  $\widehat{G}$  should have nice properties such as being countably separated, since not countably separated measurable spaces are pathological. By [22, Theorem 7.6] this is equivalent to G being of type I. In particular, if G a simply-connected nilpotent Lie group, then by [18, 33] the group G is of type I.

Once we have equipped  $\widehat{G}$  with the structure of a nice measurable space, we can define a Borel measure P on  $\widehat{G}$  called the *Plancherel measure*. Then a possible issue is how to make a measurable selection of  $\pi^{\xi}$  for  $\xi \in \widehat{G}$ . As observed in [22, p. 230]

this can be done if G is of type I. Moreover, if G is a simply-connected nilpotent Lie group, the Plancherel measure can be identified with the Lebesgue measure with a density on  $\mathbb{R}^q$  for some q using the unitary isomorphism J introduced in (3.1.8).

For  $\xi \in \widehat{G}$  we will denote by  $\pi^{\xi}$  a choice of an irreducible representation in the equivalency class  $\xi$ , and the representation Hilbert space by  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}}$  or  $\mathcal{H}_{\xi}$ .

**Definition 3.3.2.** For  $f \in L^1(G, \mathbb{C})$  the generalized Fourier transform (GFT) of f is the map  $\mathcal{F}(f)$  (or  $\widehat{f}$ ) that takes each element of  $\widehat{G}$  to a linear operator on the representation space  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}}$  by

$$\mathcal{F}(f)(\xi) = \widehat{f}(\xi) = \widehat{f}(\pi_{\xi}) := \int_{G} f(g) \pi^{\xi}(g^{-1}) dg, \text{ for } P - a.e.\xi \in \widehat{G}.$$
 (3.3.1)

As is known, the Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F}(f)$ ,  $f \in L^1(G, \mathbb{C}) \cap L^2(G, \mathbb{C})$ , is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator for almost all  $\xi \in \widehat{G}$  with respect to the Plancherel measure P, and the map  $\xi \mapsto \widehat{f}(\xi)$  is a P-measurable field of operators which allows for use of direct integrals, and can be used to find a spectral decomposition of differential operators on  $L^2(G, \mathbb{C})$ . In particular, one can prove the Plancherel Theorem and the Fourier inversion formula in this abstract setting (e.g. [22, Theorem 7.44]). The Plancherel Theorem gives rise to an extension of the GFT (which we again denote by  $\mathcal{F}$ ) to an isometry

$$\mathcal{F}: L^2(G, \mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow \int_{\widehat{G}} \mathrm{HS}\left(\mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}}\right) dP(\xi), \qquad (3.3.2)$$

where  $\text{HS}(\mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}})$  is the space of Hilbert-Schmidt operators which is a Hilbert space itself. In the case of G being nilpotent, the Plancherel measure and the space of Hilbert-Schmidt operators can be described explicitly. As it is done over Euclidean spaces, we will use the Fourier transform in Definition 3.3.2 to find a spectral decomposition for the left-invariant vector field  $\widetilde{X}$  corresponding to any  $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ . In this we will use the following notation. Let T be a linear operator on  $L^2(G, \mathbb{C})$ , then we denote by  $\widehat{T}$  the following linear operator

$$\widehat{T} : \int_{\widehat{G}} \operatorname{HS} \left( \mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}} \right) dP(\xi) \longrightarrow \int_{\widehat{G}} \operatorname{HS} \left( \mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}} \right) dP(\xi),$$
$$\widehat{T} = \mathcal{F}T\mathcal{F}^{*}, \tag{3.3.3}$$

where  $\mathcal{F}^*$  is the adjoint of  $\mathcal{F}$ 

$$\mathcal{F}^*: \int_{\widehat{G}} \mathrm{HS}\left(\mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}}\right) dP(\xi) \longrightarrow L^2\left(G, \mathbb{C}\right).$$

**Remark 3.3.3.** We would like to mention here that some of the standard properties of the generalized Fourier transform are listed in [1], and a few of them should be interpreted with caution. For example, [1, Equation (18)] gives a formal expression for the generalized Fourier transform of the Dirac mass measure, which needs an introduction of an analogue of tempered distributions. We note here that the theory of tempered distributions have been studied on nilpotent groups (not general unimodular groups), see [15, 13, 17].

### 3.4 The GFT and the Plancherel formula for nilpotent groups

We start by recalling that for connected, simply connected nilpotent Lie groups the GFT can be described explicitly. In general for an infinite-dimensional irreducible representation the operator  $\pi(g), g \in G$  is not necessarily a trace-class operator. Let  $\mathcal{S}(G)$  be the space of Schwartz functions on G as defined in [14, Appendix A.2], then for  $f \in \mathcal{S}(G)$  the operator  $\pi(f)$  defined by (3.3.1) is a trace-class operator.

By [14, Theorem 4.2.1] for the irreducible unitary representation  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ identified with  $U_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  by (3.1.9) we have that for any  $f \in \mathcal{S}(G)$  there is an integral kernel  $k_f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-k})$  such that for  $h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ 

$$\left(\widehat{f}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})h\right)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} h(y) k_f(x,y) dy.$$

By [14, proposition 4.2.2] the kernel  $k_f(x, y)$  is given by

$$k_f(x,y) = \int_M \chi_l(m) f\left(\gamma(x)^{-1} m \gamma(y)\right) dm, \qquad (3.4.1)$$

where  $\chi_l$  is the character on M defined by (3.1.3),  $\gamma$  is a map  $\mathbb{R}^{n-k} \longrightarrow G$  defined by (3.1.5), and dm is the Haar measure on M. This is what ter Elst and Robinson call a reduced kernel in [43, p. 481, (4)].

Now we turn to the Plancherel Formula. Our main goal here is to identify the Plancherel measure with a measure on a Euclidean space. Let  $\{X_1, ..., X_n\}$  be a basis for a nilpotent Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ , and let  $\{X_1^*, ..., X_n^*\}$  be the dual basis for  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ . We can use [14, Theorem 3.1.6, Corollary 3.1.8] to find a *G*-invariant set *U* of generic coadjoint orbits in  $\mathfrak{g}$  and two disjoint sets of indices *S*, *T* that partition  $\{1, ..., n\}$  in such a way

that (so-called) jump indices of any  $l \in U$  is exactly S. For more details on jump indices *etc* we refer to [14, p. 84]. Let

$$\mathfrak{g}_S^* := \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ X_i^*, i \in S \},$$
$$\mathfrak{g}_T^* := \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ X_j^*, j \in T \}.$$

Note that the skew-symmetric form  $B_l(X, Y) := l([X, Y])$  on  $\mathfrak{g}$  has the radical  $rad_l$ , and therefore induces a non-degenerate skew-symmetric form on  $\mathfrak{g}/rad_l$ .

**Definition 3.4.1.** If  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  and  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_{2k}\}$  is a basis for  $\mathfrak{g}/rad_l$ , then the *Pfaffian* Pf (l) is defined by

Pf 
$$(l)^2 := \det B^l$$
, where  
 $B^l(X,Y) := l([X,Y]), X, Y \in \mathfrak{g}$   
 $B^l_{ij} := B^l(X_i, X_j).$ 

First we recall [14, Theorem 4.3.9] combined with [24, p.374, (0.3)], where as before  $\mathcal{S}(G)$  is the space of Schwartz functions on G.

**Theorem 3.4.2** (The Fourier Inversion). Let  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  be a basis for a nilpotent Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ , and let  $\{X_1^*, \ldots, X_n^*\}$  be the dual basis for  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ . Define U, S, T and Pfaffian as above, then for  $f \in \mathcal{S}(G)$ , f(e) is given by an absolutely convergent integral

$$f(g) = \int_{U \cap \mathfrak{g}_T^*} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\left(g^{-1}\right)\widehat{f}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})\right) |\operatorname{Pf}(l)| dl,$$

where dl is the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathfrak{g}_T^*$ .

Note that  $l \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  can be identified with a point in a Euclidean space by using

coordinates of l in the dual basis  $\{X_1^*, \ldots, X_n^*\}$ . The following theorem can be found in [14, Theorem 4.3.10]

**Theorem 3.4.3** (Plancherel Theorem). Let notation be as in the previous theorem. For  $f \in S(G)$  we have

$$\|f\|_{2}^{2} = \int_{U \cap \mathfrak{g}_{T}^{*}} \|\widehat{f}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})\|_{HS}^{2} |\operatorname{Pf}(l)| dl,$$

where  $||A||_{HS}$  is the Hilbert-Schmidt norm of an operator A.

**Remark 3.4.4.** Note that usually we identify  $U \cap \mathfrak{g}_T^*$  with an open subset in a Euclidean space, and therefore dl is simply the Lebesgue measure.

**Definition 3.4.5.** The measure  $dP := |\operatorname{Pf}(l)| dl$  is the pushforward of the Plancherel measure on  $\widehat{G}$ , namely, P is a Borel measure defined by the identification  $\widehat{G} \cong \mathfrak{g}^*/\operatorname{Ad}^* G$ . We will abuse notion and call this pushforward measure the *Plancherel measure*.

In our setting we can explicitly identify the ingredients needed for application of these theorems.

**Proposition 3.4.6.** For  $G_{n+1}$  the space  $\mathfrak{g}_T^*$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$  and the Plancherel measure is given by

$$dP = |\lambda_{n-1}| d\lambda_1 d\lambda_2 \cdots d\lambda_{n-1}.$$

The Plancherel identity then becomes

$$||f||_{2}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} ||\widehat{f}(\pi_{l})||_{HS}^{2} |\lambda_{n-1}| d\lambda_{1} d\lambda_{2} \cdots d\lambda_{n-1},$$

where  $\pi_l$  are the unitary representations described in Theorem 3.2.1 and  $l = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_{n-1})$ is identified with a point in  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ .

*Proof.* If  $\{Y_n^*, \ldots, Y_1^*, X^*\}$  is the dual basis for  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}^*$ , the indices  $\{1, \ldots, n+1\}$  can be partitioned as  $S = \{2, n+1\}$  and  $T = \{1, 3, 4, \ldots, n\}$  so that

$$\left(\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}^*\right)_T = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{R}}\left\{Y_n^*, Y_{n-2}^*, \dots, Y_1^*\right\}$$

and the generic orbits are of the form

$$U = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i Y_i^* + \alpha X^* \colon \alpha_n \neq 0 \right\}.$$

Thus we see that

$$\left(\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}^*\right)_T \cap U = \left\{\lambda_{n-1}Y_n^* + \lambda_{n-2}Y_{n-2}^* + \dots + \lambda_1Y_1^* \colon \lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}, \lambda_{n-1} \neq 0\right\}.$$

The Pfaffian is a polynomial on  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}^*$  such that

$$\operatorname{Pf}(l)^{2} = \det \left( \begin{array}{cc} 0 & l(Y_{n}) \\ \\ l(-Y_{n}) & 0 \end{array} \right) = l(Y_{n})^{2}.$$

Note that  $\{Y_{n-1}^*, X^*\}$  is a basis for  $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}/rad_l$ . Identifying  $(\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}^*)_T$  with  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$  and letting  $d\lambda_1 \cdots d\lambda_{n-1}$  be the Lebesgue measure, we have  $|\operatorname{Pf}(l)| = |\lambda_{n-1}|$ . If  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  is the representation corresponding to

$$l = \lambda_{n-1}Y_n^* + \lambda_{n-2}Y_{n-2}^* + \dots + \lambda_1Y_1^*,$$

the Plancherel formula becomes

$$\|f\|_2^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} \|\widehat{f}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})\|_{HS}^2 |\lambda_{n-1}| d\lambda_1 d\lambda_2 \cdots d\lambda_{n-1},$$

and the Plancherel measure is identified with the following measure on  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ 

$$dP = |\lambda_{n-1}| d\lambda_1 d\lambda_2 \cdots d\lambda_{n-1}. \tag{3.4.2}$$

**Example 3.4.7.** For n = 2. We have the Heisenberg group case with the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_3 = \operatorname{Span} \{Y_2, Y_1, X\}$  and the dual algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_3^* = \operatorname{Span} \{Y_2^*, Y_1^*, X^*\}$ . The indices  $\{1, 2, 3\}$  partition as  $S = \{2, 3\}$  and  $T = \{1\}$  so that

$$(\mathfrak{g}_3^*)_T = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ Y_2^* \},$$

and the generic orbits are of the form

$$U = \{ l \in \mathfrak{g}_3^*, \ l(Y_2) \neq 0 \}.$$

Thus we see that

$$(\mathfrak{g}_3^*)_T \cap U = \{\beta_2 Y_2^*, \ \beta_2 \neq 0\}.$$

The Pfaffian is a polynomial on  $\mathfrak{g}_3^*$  such that

$$Pf(l)^2 = det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & l(Y_2) \\ l(-Y_2) & 0 \end{pmatrix} = l(Y_2)^2.$$

Identifying  $(\mathfrak{g}_3^*)_T$  with  $\mathbb{R}$  and letting  $d\lambda$  be the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ , we have  $|\operatorname{Pf}(l)| = |\lambda|$ . If  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  is the representation corresponding to

$$l = \lambda Y_2^*,$$

the Plancherel formula becomes

$$\|f\|_2^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|\widehat{f}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})\|_{HS}^2 |\lambda| d\lambda,$$

and the Plancherel measure is identified with the following measure on  $\mathbb R$ 

$$dP = |\lambda| d\lambda. \tag{3.4.3}$$

## Chapter 4

## Sub-Riemannian Geometry

In this chapter, we start by reviewing some standard definitions in sub-Riemannian geometry, and in particular, how a natural left-invariant sub-Riemannian structure on nilpotent Lie groups is constructed.

### 4.1 Sub-Riemannian manifolds

Let M be an n-dimensional connected smooth manifold, with tangent and cotangent bundles denoted by TM and  $T^*M$  respectively.

**Definition 4.1.1.** For  $m \leq n$ , let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a smooth sub-bundle of TM, where each fiber  $\mathcal{H}_q$  has dimension m and is equipped with an inner product  $\mathbf{g}$  which smoothly varies between fibers. Then

1. the triple  $(M, \mathcal{H}, \mathbf{g})$  is called a *sub-Riemannian manifold of rank* m;

- H is called a *horizontal distribution* on M, and the inner product g a sub-Riemannian metric;
- 3. sections of  $\mathcal{H}$  are called *horizontal vector fields*, and curves on M whose velocity vectors are always horizontal are called *horizontal curves*, i.e. a Lipschitz continous curve  $\gamma : [0,T] \to M$  is said to be horizontal (admissible) if  $\dot{\gamma}(t) \in \mathcal{H}_{\gamma(t)}$  for almost every  $t \in [0,T]$ . We use  $Vec_H(M)$  to denotes the set of horizontal smooth vector fields on M, i.e.  $Vec_H(M) = \{X \in Vec(M), X(p) \in \mathcal{H}_p, p \in M\}$ .

Assumption 4.1.2 (Hörmander's condition). Throughout this paper we assume that the distribution  $\mathcal{H}$  satisfies Hörmander's (bracket generating) condition; that is, horizontal vector fields with their Lie brackets span the tangent space  $T_pM$  at every point  $p \in M$ .

Given a horizontal curve  $\gamma : [0,T] \to M$ , the length of  $\gamma$  is

$$l(\gamma) = \int_0^T \sqrt{\mathfrak{g}_{\gamma(t)}(\dot{\gamma}(t), \dot{\gamma}(t))} dt$$

The distance induced by the sub-Riemannian structure on M is the function

$$d(p_1, p_2) = \inf\{l(\gamma), \ \gamma(0) = p_1, \ \gamma(T) = p_2\}$$

The hypothesis of connectedness of M and Hörmander's condition guarantee the finiteness and the continuity of d with respect to the topology of M (Chow's Theorem). The function d(.,.) is called the *Carnot-Carathéodory distance* and gives to M the structure of a metric space. In turn, this affords us the notion of a *horizontal geodesic*, a horizontal curve whose length (locally) realizes the Carnot-Carathéodory distance. **Theorem 4.1.3** (Chow 1939, Rashevsky 1938). If  $\mathcal{H}$  is bracket generating and M is connected, then any two points  $p_1, p_2 \in M$  are joined by a horizontal path whose length is finite. Thus  $d(p_1, p_2) < \infty$ , and d is easily seen to be a distance function on M. The topology induced by d is equal to the manifold topology for M.

**Definition 4.1.4.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a distribution. Its *flag* is the sequence of distributions  $\mathcal{H}^1 \subset \mathcal{H}^2 \subset \ldots$  defined through the recursive formula

$$\mathcal{H}^1 := \mathcal{H}, \quad \mathcal{H}^{i+1} := \mathcal{H}^i + [\mathcal{H}^i, \mathcal{H}]$$

A sub-Riemannian manifold is said to be *regular* if for each i = 1, 2, ... the dimension of  $\mathcal{H}_p^{i+1} = \mathcal{H}_p^i + [\mathcal{H}_p^i, \mathcal{H}_p]$  does not depend on the point  $p \in M$ .

**Remark 4.1.5.** In this thesis we always deal with regular sub-Riemannian manifolds. In this case Hörmander's condition can be rewritten as follows:

there is a minimal  $k \in \mathbf{N}$  such that  $\mathcal{H}_p^k = T_p M, \ p \in M$ .

The sequence  $\mathcal{G} = (\dim \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}^2, \cdots, \mathcal{H}^k)$  is called the growth vector. Under the regularity assumption,  $\mathcal{G}$  does not depend on the point and k is said the step of the structure.

**Definition 4.1.6.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{H}, \mathbf{g})$  be a sub-Riemannian manifold.

•

1. Locally we can assign to  $(\mathcal{H}, \mathbf{g})$  a set of m smooth vector fields spanning  $\mathcal{H}$ . Suppose these vector fields can be chosen so that they are orthonormal with respect to  ${\bf g}$ 

$$\mathcal{H}_p = \operatorname{Span}\{X_1(p), \dots, X_m(p)\}, \mathbf{g}_p(X_i(p), X_j(p)) = \delta_{ij}$$

then we say that the sub-Riemannian manifold M is *trivializable*.

- 2. If M is analytic and the vectors  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_m\}$  are analytic vector fields, we say the sub-Riemannian manifold  $(M, \mathcal{H}, \mathbf{g})$  is *analytic*.
- 3. M is regular if for

$$\mathcal{H}_1 := \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_{i+1} := \mathcal{H}_i + [\mathcal{H}_i, \mathcal{H}]$$

the dimension of  $\mathcal{H}_i(p)$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \ldots$  does not depend on the point  $p \in M$ .

#### 4.1.1 Left-invariant sub-Riemannian structure on Lie groups

Let G be a Lie group with Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g} := T_e G$ . As usual we identify  $T_e G$  with the set of left-invariant vector fields on G as follows. First consider smooth diffeomorphisms  $L_a$  and  $R_a$  of G, namely, the left and right translations by an element  $p \in G$ 

$$L_p: h \mapsto ph, h \in G,$$
$$R_p: h \mapsto hp, h \in G.$$

**Notation 4.1.7.** For any  $X \in \mathfrak{g}$  we denote by  $\widetilde{X}$  the unique left-invariant vector field such that  $\widetilde{X}(e) = X$ , that is, for any  $f \in C^{\infty}(G)$ 

$$\widetilde{X}f(g) := \left.\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} f\left(ge^{tX}\right) = \left.\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} f\left(R_{e^{tX}}g\right),\tag{4.1.1}$$

where  $R_p: G \to G$  is the right translation by an element  $p \in G$ 

The Lie group G can be equipped with a left-invariant Riemannian metric as follows. First an inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_e$  on  $T_eG = \mathfrak{g}$  determines a left-invariant metric on G by the identification  $dL_p : \mathfrak{g} \cong T_eG \to T_pG$ , for any  $p \in G$ . Then we can define the corresponding Riemannian metric  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on G by

$$\langle X, Y \rangle_p := \langle \left( dL_{p^{-1}} \right)_p \left( X \right), \left( dL_{p^{-1}} \right)_p \left( Y \right) \rangle_e \tag{4.1.2}$$

for any  $p \in G$  and  $X, Y \in \mathfrak{g}$ . Another way to write this is as the pull-back  $(dL_p)^* \mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}$ . Conversely, if a Riemannian metric on G satisfies (4.1.2), then it is called left-invariant.

Now we can describe a similar construction in the sub-Riemannian setting.

**Definition 4.1.8.** Let G be a Lie group with Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ ,  $\mathcal{H}$  be a distribution satisfying Hörmander's condition (Assumption 4.1.2), and  $\mathfrak{g}$  be a sub-Riemannian metric. We will say that  $(G, \mathcal{H}, \mathfrak{g})$  is equipped with a *left-invariant sub-Riemannian* structure if

1. the distribution  $\mathcal{H}$  is left-invariant, that is,  $\mathcal{H}_e$  is a linear subspace of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  such that

$$\mathcal{H}_p = L_p \mathcal{H}_e \text{ for } p \in G;$$

2. the metric  $\mathbf{g}$  is left-invariant, that is,

$$\mathbf{g}_{p}\left(X,Y\right) = \mathbf{g}_{e}\left(\left(dL_{p^{-1}}\right)_{p}\left(X\right), \left(dL_{p^{-1}}\right)_{p}\left(Y\right)\right), p \in G, X, Y \in \mathfrak{g}.$$

Finally, we observe that all left-invariant sub-Riemannian manifolds are regular and trivializable according to [1, Remark 5, p. 2627].

#### 4.2 The hypoelliptic Laplacian

As we observed in the introduction, there are several choices that need to be made to define a natural hypoelliptic Laplacian corresponding to the sub-Riemannian structure at hand. One of these choices is of a measure, and as is seen from [1, Remark 16] in the case of Lie groups equipped with a left-invariant sub-Riemannian structure the Haar measure is a natural choice: the Popp measure defined in [35] and the Hausdorff measure are both left-invariant, and therefore are proportional to the left Haar measure.

Once the measure is chosen, an operator defined as a divergence of the horizontal gradient is the usual sum of squares operator. Note that the argument in [1] has a mistake, and for more detailed discussion of related issues we refer to [26, 27]. But no matter which point of view we use, in the case of a nilpotent Lie group all these approaches give the same result: the sum of squares operator. A hypoelliptic operator can be defined as follow:

**Definition 4.2.1.** A partial differential operator **L** on a manifold M is said to be hypoelliptic if  $\mathbf{L}u \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$  implies  $u \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$  for every distribution u on M, and every open subset  $\Omega \subset M$ .

Note that, by standard elliptic regularity results, every elliptic operator is hypoelliptic; its corresponding parabolic heat operator is hypoelliptic as well.

In this section we construct the hypoelliptic Laplacian as the natural generaliza-

tion of the Laplace-Beltrami operator  $\Delta$  in the Riemannian setting. Recall that  $\Delta$  is defined as the divergence of the gradient:

$$\Delta \phi = div(\nabla \phi)$$

Here the gradient  $\forall$  is the unique operator from  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M)$  to Vec(M) that satisfies:

$$\langle \nabla \phi, X \rangle(p) = d\phi(X)(p), \ p \in M, \ X \in Vec(M)$$

where  $\langle ., . \rangle$  is the Riemannian metric, and the divergence of a vector field is the unique function satisfying  $div_{\mu}X = L_{X}\mu$  where  $\mu$  is the Riemannian volume form.

**Definition 4.2.2.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{H}, \mathfrak{g})$  be a sub-Riemannian manifold, the horizontal gradient is the unique operator  $grad_H$  from  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(M)$  to  $Vec_H(M)$  satisfying  $\mathfrak{g}_p(grad_H\phi(p), v) = d\phi_p(v), \ p \in M, v \in \mathcal{H}_p$ .

Locally  $grad_H$  can be given by

$$grad_H\phi = \sum_{i=1}^m (L_{X_i}\phi)X_i,$$

where  $\{X_1, \dots, X_m\}$  is a local orthonormal frame for  $(M, \mathcal{H}, \mathfrak{g})$ .

As for the sub-Riemannian divergence, denoted by  $div_H$ , we will need to define a sub-Riemannian volume form, denote by  $\mu_H$ . For detailed construction we refer to Montgomery's book in [Mon02] where  $\mu_H$  is called the Popp's measure.

**Definition 4.2.3.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{H}, \mathfrak{g})$  be a sub-Riemannian manifold. Then the hypoelliptic Laplacian is

$$\Delta_H \phi = div_H(grad_H \phi)$$

In local orthonormal frame,  $\Delta_H$  can be written as

$$\Delta_H \phi = \sum_{i=1}^m \left( L_{X_i}^2 \phi + L_{X_i} \phi Tr(adX_i) \right)$$

The hypoelliplicity of  $\Delta_H$  follows from Hörmander's Theorem

**Theorem 4.2.4** (Hörmander's Theorem). Let **L** be a differential operator on a manifold M, that locally in a neighborhood U is written as  $\mathbf{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} L_{X_i} + L_{X_0}$  where  $\{X_0, X_1, \dots, X_m\}$  are  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  vector fields. If  $Lie\{X_0, X_1, \dots, X_m\} = T_pM, \forall p \in U$ , then **L** is hypoelliptic.

**Remark 4.2.5.** Note that in the Riemannian case (m = n) the operator  $\Delta_H$  coincides with the Laplace-Beltrami operator.

Now, Let  $(G, \mathcal{H}, \mathfrak{g})$  be a left-invariant sub-Riemannina manifold and assume that  $\{X_1, \dots, X_m\} \subset \mathfrak{g}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $\mathcal{H}_e$  Then

$$\Delta_H \phi = \sum_{i=1}^m \left( L_{\widetilde{X}_i}^2 \phi + L_{\widetilde{X}_i} \phi Tr(adX_i) \right)$$

where  $\widetilde{X}_i$  is the vector field defined by  $\widetilde{X}_i = gX_i$  for all  $g \in G$ .

**Remark 4.2.6.** We say that a Lie group (locally compact ) G is unimodular if the left Haar measure  $\mu_L$  and the right Haar measure  $\mu_R$  coincide.

**Theorem 4.2.7.** Let  $(G, \mathcal{H}, \mathfrak{g})$  be a left-invariant sub-Riemannian manifold. Then, G is unimodular if and only if  $\Delta_H \phi = \sum_{i=1}^m L^2_{\widetilde{X}_i} \phi$ .

See for instance [27].

Let  $(G, \mathcal{H}, \mathbf{g})$  be a unimodular Lie group equipped with a left-invariant sub-Riemannian structure of rank k. Our goal now is to see how we can use the GFT to diagonalize left-invariant vector fields, and therefore the sub-Laplacian  $\Delta_H$ . This is really a non-commutative analogue of the Euclidean case. One of the issues we want to clarify in what follows is the domains of the operators involved. This is something that is missing in [1], and can be made explicit in the case when G is nilpotent.

Define  $\Delta_H$  to be the left-invariant second order differential operator

$$\Delta_H f := \sum_{i=1}^m \widetilde{X_i}^2 f, \ f \in C_c^\infty(G),$$

where  $\{X_i\}_{i=1}^m$  is an orthonormal basis of  $(\mathcal{H}_e, \mathbf{g}_e)$ .

The operator  $\Delta_H$  is a densely defined symmetric operator on  $L^2(G, dg)$ , where dg is a right-invariant Haar measure. It has a self-adjoint extension, namely, the Friedrichs extension, which we will denote by the same  $\Delta_H$ . For details we refer to [44, Section II.5]. In addition we assume that  $\mathcal{H}$  satisfies Hörmander's condition 4.1.2, therefore the operator  $\Delta_H$  is hypoelliptic by [28].

**Definition 4.2.8.** Let  $P_t$  denote the heat semigroup  $e^{t\Delta_H}$ , where  $\Delta_H$  is the selfadjoint (Friedrichs) extension of  $\Delta_H|_{C_c^{\infty}(G)}$  to  $L^2(G, dg)$ , with dg is a right-invariant Haar measure. By the left invariance of  $\Delta_H$  and Hörmander condition (4.1.2),  $P_t$ admits a left convolution kernel  $p_t$  such that

$$P_t f(h) = f * p_t(h) = \int_G f(hg) p_t(g) dg$$

for all  $f \in C_c^{\infty}(G)$ . The function  $p_t$  is called the *hypoelliptic heat kernel* of G.

#### 4.2.1 Generalized Fourier transform

We will use the Fourier transform in Definition 3.3.2 and the Fourier inversion formula to find a spectral decomposition for the left-invariant vector field  $\widetilde{X}$  corresponding to any  $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ .

To describe a domain for the differential operator  $\widetilde{X}$ , as well as for the Fourier transform of  $\widetilde{X}$ , we turn to the notion of smooth and analytic vectors for a representation (due to E. Nelson [36], see also [25]).

**Definition 4.2.9.** Let  $\pi$  be a unitary representation of G in a complex Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , consider the map  $f_v: G \to \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$  given by

$$f_{v}(g) := \pi(g) v \text{ for } v \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}.$$
(4.2.1)

Then

- 1. v is an *analytic vector* if the map  $f_v$  is analytic, and the space of such vectors is denoted by  $\mathcal{H}^{\omega}_{\pi}$ ;
- 2. v is  $C^k$  vector, if the map  $f_v$  is  $C^k$ , and the space of such vectors is denoted by  $\mathcal{H}^k_{\pi}$ ;
- 3.  $\mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi} := \bigcap_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}^{k}_{\pi}$ , then  $v \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi}$  is called a  $(C^{\infty})$  smooth vector.

It is well-known that  $\mathcal{H}^{\omega}_{\pi}$  and  $\mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi}$  are dense linear subspaces of  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ , and both are  $\pi(G)$ -invariant ([14, p. 230]). By [19, Theorem 3.3] the space  $\mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi}$  coincides with the Gårding space of finite sums of vectors  $\widehat{f}(\pi) v$ ,  $f \in C^{\infty}_{c}(G)$ ,  $v \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ . We will use the space  $\mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi}$  because it works better with the GFT. In particular, we have that for  $\pi \in \widehat{G}$ 

$$\widehat{f}(\pi) v \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi}, \text{ for all } v \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi}, f \in \mathcal{S}(G),$$

$$(4.2.2)$$

and if G is a connected, simply connected nilpotent group, then

$$\mathcal{H}_{J^{-1}\pi J}^{\infty} = \mathcal{S}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}\right),\tag{4.2.3}$$

where the first statement can be found in [14, Theorem A.2.7], the second in [14, Corollary 4.1.2] with J being the unitary isomorphism introduced in (3.1.8).

**Definition 4.2.10.** Let  $X \in \mathfrak{g}, \pi \in \widehat{G}$ , then define the differential operator  $d\pi(X)$ on  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$  with the domain

$$\mathcal{D}\left(d\pi\left(X\right)\right) := \left\{ v \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi} : d\pi(X)\left(v\right) := \widetilde{X}f_{v} = \left.\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} f_{v}\left(e^{tX}\right) \text{ exists } \right\},\$$

where  $f_v(e^{tX}) = \pi(e^{tX}) v$  as defined by (4.2.1).

Note that since  $\pi$  is a unitary representation, by Stone's theorem  $d\pi(X)$  is a closed, densely defined, essentially skew-adjoint operator on  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$ . Moreover, as noted in [14, p.226] for any  $X \in \mathfrak{g}$  we have

$$\mathcal{H}_{\pi}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{D} \left( d\pi \left( X \right) \right),$$
  

$$d\pi(X) \left( \mathcal{H}_{\pi}^{\infty} \right) \subseteq \mathcal{D} \left( d\pi \left( X \right) \right),$$
  

$$\widetilde{X} f_{v} \left( g \right) = f_{d\pi(X)(v)} \left( g \right), v \in \mathcal{H}_{\pi}^{\infty}, g \in G.$$
(4.2.4)

Remark 4.2.11. Now we are ready to comment on [1, Proposition 24]. Note that

to make sense of all the ingredients in the statement, we need to know the domains of differential operators involved. If we start with  $\mathcal{H}^{\omega}_{\pi}$  as the domain of  $d\pi(X)$ , we see that for a general unimodular group  $d\pi(X) \circ d\pi(X)$  is again a densely defined second-order differential operator on  $\mathcal{H}^{\omega}_{\pi}$ . Observe that this domain might depend of the representation  $\pi$  which makes interpreting [1] difficult.

There are some groups G for which this construction can be made rigorous. The first example is of the Heisenberg group  $H_3$ . We refer to [25, p. 65] for details, but the main point is that infinite-dimensional irreducible unitary representations  $\pi_{\lambda} \in \widehat{H}_3$ can be indexed by  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , and the Plancherel measure can be described as a measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ . In this case  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi_{\lambda}}^{\omega} = \mathcal{H}_{\pi_1}^{\omega}$ , and so is independent of  $\lambda$ . We describe this group in Example 5.1.5. This construction can be extended to other nilpotent groups as well, and in particular we can use the fact that  $d\pi(X)$  are differential operators with common domains if  $\pi \in \widehat{G}$  are realized as unitary representations on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ .

The next theorem can be viewed as a rigorous version of [1, Theorem 26]. In this case G is not assumed to be nilpotent.

**Theorem 4.2.12.** For any  $X \in \mathfrak{g}, \pi \in \widehat{G}, v \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi}, f \in \mathcal{S}(G)$ , then

$$\widehat{\widetilde{X}^{2}f}\left(\pi\right)v = d^{2}\pi\left(X\right)\widehat{f}\left(\pi\right)v.$$

Thus  $\widehat{\Delta_{H}f}(\pi)$  is a closed, densely defined self-adjoint operator on  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}$  with the domain  $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}^{\infty}$  such that for  $f \in \mathcal{S}(G)$ 

$$\widehat{\Delta_H f}(\pi) = \left(\sum_{i=1}^m d^2 \pi \left(X_i\right)\right) \widehat{f}(\pi) \,. \tag{4.2.5}$$

*Proof.* The proof is based on properties of the GFT that we formulated earlier. First,

we observe that for operators  $\widehat{f}(\pi)$  and  $d\pi(X)$  by (4.2.2) and (4.2.4) for  $f \in \mathcal{S}(G)$ we have

$$\widehat{f}(\pi)\left(\mathcal{H}_{\pi}^{\infty}\right)\subseteq\mathcal{H}_{\pi}^{\infty}\subseteq\mathcal{D}\left(d\pi\left(X\right)\right),$$

Finally, similarly to [14, p. 124] for  $f \in C_c^{\infty}(G)$ 

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\widetilde{X}f}\left(\pi\right) &= \left.\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} \int_{G} f\left(g e^{tX}\right) \pi\left(g^{-1}\right) dg = \\ \left.\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} \int_{G} f\left(g\right) \pi\left(e^{-tX} g^{-1}\right) dg = \\ \left.\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} \int_{G} f\left(g\right) \pi\left(e^{-tX}\right) \pi\left(g^{-1}\right) dg = -d\pi\left(X\right) \widehat{f}\left(\pi\right), \end{split}$$

where this limit exists on  $\mathcal{D}(d\pi(X))$ , and so in particular on  $\mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi}$  by (4.2.4).

The result now follows since we can apply the same argument on the space of smooth vectors  $\mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{\pi}$ .

Using (3.3.3) we can say that

$$\widehat{\Delta_H} : \int_{\widehat{G}} \operatorname{HS} \left( \mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}} \right) dP(\xi) \longrightarrow \int_{\widehat{G}} \operatorname{HS} \left( \mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}} \right) dP(\xi)$$

is an (essentially) self-adjoint operator for each  $\pi^{\xi}$  which acts by multiplication by the operator  $\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} d^2 \pi^{\xi}(X_i)\right)$  on the space of HS  $(\mathcal{H}_{\pi^{\xi}})$ . If in addition G is a connected, simply connected nilpotent group, then for  $\pi = \pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  and  $f \in C_c^{\infty}(G)$ 

$$\widehat{\Delta_{H}f}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right) = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} d^{2}\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\left(X_{i}\right)\right)\widehat{f}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right)$$

can be described more explicitly. By (4.2.3) the operator  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} d^2 \pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(X_i)$  can be identified with an operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$  which we denote by

$$\widehat{\Delta_{H}}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}) := \sum_{i=1}^{m} d^{2} \pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(X_{i}). \qquad (4.2.6)$$

### Chapter 5

# The hypoelliptic heat kernel on nilpotent Lie groups and some applications

### 5.1 The hypoelliptic heat kernel on nilpotent Lie groups

Now we can see that in the nilpotent case there is a natural semigroup corresponding to the GFT of the hypoelliptic Laplacian  $\widehat{\Delta}_{H}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$ , which in turn gives an explicit formula for the hypoelliptic heat kernel. Note that [1, Corollary 29] can be interpreted as a version of this formula (modulo the issues we mentioned previously), and in the nilpotent case we also refer to [43, Equation (6), p. 484].

Theorem 5.1.1 (Hypoelliptic heat kernel).

$$p_t(g) = \int_{U \cap \mathfrak{g}_T^*} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} \chi_l(\rho_2(\gamma(x)g)) k_t^l(\rho_1(\gamma(x)g), x) dx |\operatorname{Pf}(l)| dl, \qquad (5.1.1)$$

where  $k_t^l(x, y)$  is the heat kernel for a continuous semigroup with the generator  $\widehat{\Delta}_H(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$ . This operator is a second order differential operator with polynomial coefficients on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$  and with a non-negative polynomial potential whose degree depends on the structure of the group G.

**Remark 5.1.2.** By Remark 3.4.4 we usually identify  $U \cap \mathfrak{g}_T^*$  with an open subset of a Euclidean space and dl with the Lebesgue measure. Thus (5.1.1) gives a Euclidean integral formula for the hypoelliptic heat kernel on G. In addition, we can view  $U \cap \mathfrak{g}_T^*$  as a non-commutative spectrum of a nilpotent group G. This goes back to an observation in [33] that no discrete spectra arises in this case, and so it is not surprising that we have an integral formula instead of a series as for a compact Lie group (e. g. [4]).

*Proof.* Recall that the heat kernel  $p_t$  is the convolution kernel defined in Definition 4.2.8

$$P_t f(g) = f * p_t(g) = \int_G f(gh) p_t(h) dh$$

The heat kernel  $p_t \in \mathcal{S}(G)$ , and therefore by (3.4.1) for the representation  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$  there is an integral kernel  $k_t \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-k})$  such that for  $h \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ 

$$\left(\widehat{p}_{t}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right)h\right)\left(x\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} h\left(y\right)k_{t}^{l}\left(x,y\right)dy,$$
(5.1.2)

where

$$k_{t}^{l}(x,y) = \int_{M} \chi_{l}(m) p_{t}\left(\gamma(x)^{-1} m \gamma(y)\right) dm, \ x,y \in \mathbb{R}^{n-k}.$$
 (5.1.3)

Here we use Vergne's polarization subalgebra  $\mathfrak{m}$  to define M. First observe that for

any  $f \in \mathcal{S}(G)$ 

$$\widehat{P_t f}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}) = \widehat{f}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}) \circ \widehat{p_t}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$$

is a trace-class integral operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ . To recover the heat kernel, we need to find a function f such that  $\widehat{f}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$  is close to the identity operator on  $\mathcal{H}_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$ . This presents two problems: the first is that the identity operator is not a Hilbert-Schmidt operator, and the second is that in general  $\widehat{p}_t(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$  is only Hilbert-Schmidt, and therefore taking the trace in the Fourier inversion formula might be problematic. We will deal with the first issue by taking an approximate identity in G which is equivalent to defining the Dirac  $\delta$  function as a tempered distribution, and the second issue has been addressed in [14] as we explain below.

Namely, let  $\{\varphi_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a bounded approximate identity, that is,  $\varphi_n \in C_c(G)$ be a sequence of functions such as in [22, Proposition 2.42]. In particular, for any  $h \in L^2(G)$ 

$$h * \varphi_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{L^2(G)} h$$

and the operator norms of  $h \mapsto h * \varphi_n$  are (uniformly) bounded.

Now we can use the fact that by [14, Theorem 4.2.1] for any function in  $\mathcal{S}(G)$  its Fourier transform is not just Hilbert-Schmidt, but trace-class. Therefore for the heat kernel  $p_t$  we see that  $\hat{p}_t(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$  is a trace-class operator, and because of the assumptions on the approximate identity  $\{\varphi_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  we see that the convergence under the trace

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\widehat{\varphi_{n}}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right)\circ\widehat{p_{t}}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right)\right)\xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{}\operatorname{Tr}\left(\widehat{p_{t}}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right)\right)$$

holds. Now we can use the Fourier Inversion formula [22, Theorem 7.44, p. 234] for nice enough functions h (such as  $p_t * \varphi_n$ ) on G

$$h(g) = \int_{\widehat{G}} \operatorname{Tr}(\widehat{h}(\pi^{\xi}) \circ \pi^{\xi}(g)) dP(\xi)$$

In particular, if h is in addition continuous, this is a pointwise identity. Applying this formula to  $P_t\varphi_n$ , we have

$$(P_t\varphi_n)(g) = (p_t * \varphi_n)(g) =$$
$$\int_{\widehat{G}} \operatorname{Tr}(\widehat{p_t * \varphi_n}(\pi^{\xi}) \circ \pi^{\xi}(g)) dP(\xi) =$$
$$\int_{\widehat{G}} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\widehat{\varphi_n}(\pi^{\xi}) \circ \widehat{p_t}(\pi^{\xi}) \circ \pi^{\xi}(g)\right) dP(\xi).$$

In our setting the trace is taken in the representation space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, dx)$ , and by Theorem 3.4.3 we can identify  $\widehat{G}$  with  $U \cap \mathfrak{g}_T^*$  equipped with the Plancherel measure  $|\operatorname{Pf}(l)|dl$ , so we have that the Fourier Inversion formula for  $P_t\varphi_n$  gives

$$(P_t\varphi_n)(g) = \int_{U\cap\mathfrak{g}_T^*} \operatorname{Tr}(\widehat{P_t\varphi_n}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})\circ\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(g))|\operatorname{Pf}(l)|dl = \int_{U\cap\mathfrak{g}_T^*} \operatorname{Tr}(\widehat{\varphi_n}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})\circ\widehat{p_t}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})\circ\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(g))|\operatorname{Pf}(l)|dl \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} \int_{U\cap\mathfrak{g}_T^*} \operatorname{Tr}(\widehat{p_t}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})\circ\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(g))|\operatorname{Pf}(l)|dl = \int_{U\cap\mathfrak{g}_T^*} \operatorname{Tr}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(g)\circ\widehat{p_t}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}))|\operatorname{Pf}(l)|dl,$$

where we used the fact that the convergence under Tr and therefore under the integral does not change after composing with the unitary operator  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(g)$ , and the last line uses the centrality of the operator trace. Now observe that if we have a unitary operator U on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k})$  composed with a trace class integral operator

$$(Kf)(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} f(y) k(x,y) dy$$

then  $U \circ K$  is a trace class integral operator with the kernel given by

$$Uk(x,\cdot),$$

where U is applied to the kernel k(x, y) in the variable x. Then

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(U\circ K\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} Uk\left(x,x\right) dx.$$

Now we can refer to (5.1.2) and (5.1.3) to see that

$$\left(\widehat{p}_{t}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right)h\right)\left(x\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} h\left(y\right)k_{t}^{l}\left(x,y\right)dy,$$

where  $k_t$  is defined by (5.1.3).

Recall that we identify the unitary representation  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$  with the representation  $U_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$ defined by (3.1.9), and so applying it to the kernel  $k_t^l$  in x we have

$$\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\left(g\right)k_{t}^{l}\right)\left(x,y\right)=\chi_{l}\left(\rho_{2}\left(\gamma\left(x\right)g\right)\right)k_{t}^{l}\left(\rho_{1}\left(\gamma\left(x\right)g\right),y\right),$$

and therefore

$$(P_{t}\varphi_{n})(g) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \int_{U \cap \mathfrak{g}_{T}^{*}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} \chi_{l}(\rho_{2}(\gamma(x)g)) k_{t}^{l}(\rho_{1}(\gamma(x)g), x) dx | \operatorname{Pf}(l)| dl.$$

Now we recall that  $p_t$  is a convolution kernel, and thus at least

$$(P_t\varphi_n)(g) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{L^2(G)} p_t(g)$$

Actually, this convergence is pointwise since the hypoelliptic heat kernel  $p_t$  is continuous and bounded. Thus

$$p_t(g) = \int_{U \cap \mathfrak{g}_T^*} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} \chi_l(\rho_2(\gamma(x)g)) k_t^l(\rho_1(\gamma(x)g), x) dx |\operatorname{Pf}(l)| dl.$$

Finally we observe that  $k_t^l$  is the heat kernel for  $\widehat{\Delta}_H(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$  by [43, p. 481]. Note that this heat kernel corresponds to the initial point  $\gamma^{-1}(x)\gamma(y)$  as can be seen from (5.1.3). Recall that we can use Mal'cev basis which allows us to write left-invariant vector fields as first order differential operators with polynomial coefficients. By [14, Theorem 4.1.1] in these coordinates  $d\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}(X_i)$  is a differential operator of degree 0 or 1 with polynomial coefficients with respect to  $(x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$ , and therefore the operator  $\widehat{\Delta}_H(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$  is a second order differential operator with polynomial coefficients on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ .

**Remark 5.1.3.** The kernel  $k_t^l(x, y)$  is called the reduced heat kernel in [43, p. 481] among other papers, and it is the kernel of the following semigroup

$$\left(e^{t\widehat{\Delta_{H}}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right)}f\right)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} k_{t}^{l}\left(x,y\right)f\left(y\right)dy, f \in L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n-k},dy\right).$$

**Remark 5.1.4.** Note that we can use some crude estimates for the heat kernel for the Schrödinger operator such as in [16] to prove heat kernel estimates for the hypoelliptic heat kernel  $p_t$ . We use the following statement in [42, Proposition 2.2.8]. For example, the reduced heat kernel  $k_t^l$  in the case when G is the Heisenberg group or the group  $G_n$ 

introduced in Section 2.3 is the heat kernel for a Schrödinger operator  $\mathcal{L} = -\Delta + V_l$ on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N, dx)$  with a nonnegative polynomial potential  $V_l$ . In this case  $V_l$  grows faster than  $|x|^{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha$ , then there are positive constants  $c_l, C_l$  (depending on  $\alpha$ *etc*) such that the heat kernel for  $\mathcal{L}$  satisfies

$$k_t\left(x,y\right) \leqslant \frac{C_l}{t^{N/2}} \exp\left(-c_l t\left(|x|^{1+\alpha/2} + |y|^{1+\alpha/2}\right)\right)$$

for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $0 < t \leq 1$ .

**Example 5.1.5** (Heisenberg group). Let  $H_3$  be the Heisenberg group identified with  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with the multiplication given by

$$(a, b, c) \cdot (a', b', c') := (a + a', b + b', c + c' + \frac{1}{2}(ab' - ba')),$$

and a Haar measure on  $H_3$  then is the Lebesgue measure dadbdc on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Let  $\{X, Y, Z\}$ be the basis of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  with the only non-zero bracket [X, Y] = Z. A polarizing (non-unique) sub-algebra for an element  $l = \lambda Z^*$  can be chosen as  $\mathfrak{m} =$ Span $\{Y, Z\}$ . Thus the corresponding subgroup is

$$M = \exp \mathfrak{m} = \{ \exp(bY + cZ), \ b, c \in \mathbb{R} \}$$

identified with  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . The dual space of  $H_3$  is given by

$$\widehat{H}_3 = \{\pi_\lambda, \ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$$

where

$$\pi_{\lambda}(a,b,c): L^{2}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow L^{2}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C})$$
$$f(x) \longmapsto e^{2\pi i \lambda (c+xb+\frac{ab}{2})} f(x+a)$$

Then for any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$ 

$$(d\pi_{\lambda} (X)) f (x) = f' (x) ,$$
  

$$(d\pi_{\lambda} (Y)) f (x) = 2\pi i \lambda x f (x) ,$$
  

$$(d\pi_{\lambda} (Z)) f (x) = 2\pi i \lambda f (x) .$$

The Plancherel measure on  $\widehat{H}_3$  is  $dP(\lambda) = |\lambda| d\lambda/4\pi^2$ , where  $d\lambda$  is the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ . By using the ingredients above we are able to define the Fourier transform  $\widehat{f}(\lambda)$  of a function  $f \in L^2(H_3, \mathbb{C})$  as an operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$ 

$$\left(\widehat{f}(\lambda)h\right)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f(a,b,c) \left(\pi_\lambda(a,b,c)h\right)(x) dadbdc$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f(a,b,c) e^{2\pi i \lambda \left(-c-xb+\frac{ab}{2}\right)} h(x-a) dadbdc, \quad h \in L^2(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C}).$$
(5.1.4)

We can define a sub-Riemannian structure on  $H_3$  by considering the two left invariant vector fields  $\widetilde{X} = X(g), \widetilde{Y} = Y(g), g \in H_3$ . Then the horizontal distribution is given by

$$\mathcal{H} = \operatorname{Span}\{\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y}\}$$

and therefore the corresponding sub-Laplacian is

$$\Delta_H = \widetilde{X}^2 + \widetilde{Y}^2.$$

The the Fourier transform  $\Delta_H$  defined by (4.2.6) is

$$\widehat{\Delta_{H}}(\pi_{\lambda}) f(x) = f''(x) - 4\pi^{2}\lambda^{2}x^{2}f(x) = f''(x) - V_{\lambda}(x) f(x).$$

Note that by using the global coordinates (a, b, c) the sub-Laplacian is given by

$$\Delta_H f(a, b, c) = \left(\widetilde{X}^2 + \widetilde{Y}^2\right) f(a, b, c)$$
$$= \left(\left(\partial_a - \frac{b}{2}\partial_c\right)^2 + \left(\partial_b + \frac{a}{2}\partial_c\right)^2\right) f(a, b, c).$$

For  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$  we have

$$\gamma^{-1}(x)m\gamma(y) = \exp(-xX)\exp(bY + cZ)\exp(yX)$$
$$= (y - x, b, c - \frac{b}{2}(x + y)).$$

The reduced heat kernel is then

$$k_t(x,y) = \int_M \chi_l(m) p_t(\gamma^{-1}(x)m\gamma(y)) dm = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{2\pi i\lambda c} p_t(y-x,b,c-\frac{b}{2}(x+y)) db dc.$$

Observe that by (5.1.4) applied to  $p_t$  and h being the Dirac  $\delta$  function (which can be

made rigorous similarly to the proof of Theorem 5.1.1) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\widehat{p_t}(\lambda)\delta\right)(x) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} p_t(a,b,c) \left(\pi_\lambda(a,b,c)\delta\right)(x) dadbdc \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} p_t(a,b,c) e^{2\pi i\lambda(-c-xb+\frac{ab}{2})} \delta(x-a) dadbdc \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} p_t(x,b,c) e^{2\pi i\lambda(-c-\frac{xb}{2})} dbdc \end{aligned}$$

It is equal to the reduced heat kernel  $k_t(0, x)$  and taking the derivative in t and using the fact that  $Y \in \mathfrak{m}$ , and therefore  $\widetilde{Y}$  is a skew-symmetric on  $L^2(M, dm)$ , we see that

$$\partial_t k_t(0,x) = \widehat{\Delta_H}(\pi_\lambda) \, k_t(0,x) = \left(\frac{d^2}{dx^2} - V_\lambda(x)\right) k_t(0,x)$$

Finally, in this case we can make (5.1.1) explicit. Namely, using the ingredients we described earlier, we see that the hypoelliptic heat kernel on  $H_3$  is given by

$$p_t(a,b,c) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\times}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{2\pi i l \left(c + \frac{xb}{2}\right)} k_t^l(a+x,x) \, dx |l| dl,$$

where  $k_t^l(x, y)$  is the fundamental solution of Schrödinger's equation with the generator

$$(H_l f)(x) = \frac{d^2 f}{dx^2} - l^2 x^2 f.$$

In this case this heat kernel can be found explicitly, namely,

$$k_t^l(x,y) = \left(\frac{l}{2\pi\sinh\left(2lt\right)}\right)^{1/2} e^{-s_t^l(x,y)}, \text{ where}$$
$$s_t^l(x,y) = l\left(\left(x^2 + y^2\right)\coth\left(2lt\right) - \frac{xy}{2\sinh\left(2lt\right)}\right)$$

Thus we can use this form for  $k_t^l$  to write an explicit expression for  $p_t$ 

$$p_t(a,b,c) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} 2l \cos\left(2\pi l \left(c + \frac{xb}{2}\right)\right) k_t^l(a+x,x) \, dx \, dl.$$

### **5.2** Hypoelliptic heat kernel on the group $G_{n+1}$

In this section we define a sub-Riemannian structure on the n-step Lie group  $G_{n+1}$ described in Section 2.3, and then use the representations of  $G_{n+1}$  to find an explicit expression for the corresponding hypoelliptic kernel.

In particular, we can use the matrix presentation (2.3.1) of the group  $G_{n+1}$ . We now introduce the isomorphism  $\phi$  between  $G_{n+1}$  and  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  by

$$\phi(g) = (a, \mathbf{z}), \text{ where } \mathbf{z} := (z_1, \dots, z_n),$$

where z is defined by (2.3.2). This isomorphism is a group isomorphism when  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ is endowed with the following product

$$(a, \mathbf{z}) \cdot (a', \mathbf{z}') := \left(a + a', z_1 + z'_1, \dots, z_n + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{a^i}{i!} z_{n-i}\right)$$

Now, let us define a left-invariant sub-Riemannian structure on  $G_{n+1}$  as presented in Chapter 4. Consider two left invariant vector fields  $X_1, X_2$  corresponding to  $X, Y_1 \in$   $\mathfrak{g}_{n+1}$  defined by (4.1.1), and let

$$\mathcal{H}(g) := \operatorname{Span}\{X_1(g), X_2(g)\},$$
$$\mathbf{g}_g(X_i(g), X_j(g)) = \delta_{ij}.$$

Writing the group  $G_{n+1}$  in coordinates  $(a, \mathbf{z}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , we have the following expression for the left-invariant vector fields  $\widetilde{X}_1$  and  $\widetilde{X}_2$ 

$$\widetilde{X_1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial a},$$
  

$$\widetilde{X_2} = \frac{\partial}{\partial z_1} + a\frac{\partial}{\partial z_2} + \frac{a^2}{2!}\frac{\partial}{\partial z_3} + \dots + \frac{a^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}\frac{\partial}{\partial z_n}.$$

The corresponding hypoelliptic Laplacian  $\Delta_H$  on  $G_{n+1}$  is given by

$$\Delta_H f = \left(\widetilde{X_1}^2 + \widetilde{X_2}^2\right) f, \quad f \in C_c^{\infty}(G_{n+1}).$$

Our goal is to find an integral formula for the hypoelliptic heat kernel  $p_t(g)$  as defined in Definition 4.2.8 where g is identified with a point in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ .

Notation 5.2.1. In what follows we denote by  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}_*$  the set

$$\mathbb{R}^{n-1}_{*} := \left\{ \mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1} = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} : \lambda_{n-1} \neq 0 \right\}.$$

**Theorem 5.2.2.** The hypoelliptic heat kernel on the group  $G_{n+1}$  is given by

$$p_t(a, \mathbf{z}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_k B_k(x, \mathbf{z})\right)} k_t^{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}} (x+a, x) \, dx |\lambda_{n-1}| d\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1},$$

where  $k_t^{\Lambda_{n-1}}(x, y)$  is the fundamental solution to a Schrödinger equation with a polynomial potential and

$$B_k(x, \mathbf{z}) := \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{z_i}{(k-i)!} x^{k-i}, k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1,$$

and

$$d\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1} := d\lambda_1 \dots d\lambda_{n-1}$$

is the Lebesgue measure.

**Remark 5.2.3.** Note that the integral should be taken over  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}_*$ , but as the integrand is 0 when  $\lambda_{n-1} = 0$ , we can instead integrate over  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ .

*Proof.* This formula can be derived using Theorem 5.1.1. Recall that we described all unitary representations of  $G_{n+1}$  in Section 3.2, and now we can use these results to apply Theorem 5.1.1. For this purpose it is enough to consider representations in the support of the Plancherel measure P. Thus we identify  $\hat{G}_{n+1}$  with

$$\left\{\pi_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}:\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}\in\mathbb{R}^{n-1}_{*}\right\},\,$$

where  $\pi_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}$  is a unitary operator on  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{C})$  defined by

$$\pi_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}} : L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}),$$
$$f(x) \longmapsto \left(\pi^{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}(a, \mathbf{z})f\right)(x),$$
$$\left(\pi_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}(a, \mathbf{z})f\right)(x) := e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_k B_k(x)\right)} f(x+a),$$

where polynomials  $B_k(x)$  are defined by (3.2.1). Recall that by (3.4.2) the Plancherel measure on  $\widehat{G}_{n+1}$  is identified with the following measure on  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ 

$$dP(\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}) = |\operatorname{Pf}(l)| dm_T(l) = |\lambda_{n-1}| d\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}.$$

Consider the representation  $\pi_{\Lambda_{n-1}}$  acting on the representation space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$ . Using Definition 4.2.10 we consider  $d\pi_{\Lambda_{n-1}}(X_i)$ , i = 1, 2 which are operators on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$ , which can be found explicitly as follows. Let  $\Lambda_{n-1} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}_*$ , then

$$\begin{bmatrix} d\pi_{\Lambda_{n-1}} (X_1) f \end{bmatrix} (x) = \frac{d}{dt} \Big|_{t=0} \pi_{\Lambda_{n-1}} (e^{tX_1}) f (x) \\ = \frac{d}{dt} \Big|_{t=0} \pi_{\Lambda_{n-1}} (t, 0, \dots, 0) f (x) \\ = \frac{d}{dt} \Big|_{t=0} f (t+x) = f' (x),$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} d\pi_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}(X_2) f \end{bmatrix}(x) = \frac{d}{dt} \Big|_{t=0} \pi_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}(e^{tX_2}) f(x) \\ = \frac{d}{dt} \Big|_{t=0} \pi_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}(0, t, \dots, 0) f(x) \\ = 2\pi i \left( \lambda_{n-1} \frac{x^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-2} \lambda_j \frac{x^{j-1}}{(j-1)!} \right) f(x)$$

Thus, under the GFT the hypoelliptic Laplacian (as in Theorem 4.2.12) is given by

$$\widehat{\Delta_{H}f}\left(\pi_{\lambda_{n-1},\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-2}}\right)(x) = \frac{d^{2}f}{dx^{2}} - 4\pi^{2}\left(\lambda_{n-1}\frac{x^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-2}\lambda_{j}\frac{x^{j-1}}{(j-1)!}\right)^{2}f(x).$$

This is a Schrödinger operator with a polynomial potential

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}} := \frac{d^2 f}{dx^2} - V_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}(x) f(x) ,$$

where

$$V_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}(x) := 4\pi^2 \left( \frac{\lambda_{n-1}}{(n-1)!} x^{n-1} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-2} \frac{\lambda_j}{(j-1)!} x^{j-1} \right)^2.$$
(5.2.1)

Denote by  $k_t^{\Lambda_{n-1}}(x, y)$  the fundamental solution for the operator  $\partial_t - \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda_{n-1}}$ . Then applying Theorem 5.1.1, one gets the kernel of the hypoelliptic heat equation on  $G_{n+1}$ as follows

$$p_t(a, \mathbf{z}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_k B_k(x)\right)} k_t^{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}} (x+a, x) \, dx |\lambda_{n-1}| d\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}.$$

## 5.3 Short-time behavior of the hypoelliptic heat kernel and the Trotter product formula

In this section we recall the techniques used by Séguin and Mansouri in [41], where they show how the Trotter product formula for perturbation of a semigroup can be combined with an explicit formula for the hypoelliptic heat kernel to study the shorttime behaviour of this heat kernel.

The following version of the Trotter product formula is well-suited for our purposes. Suppose C is an operator that can be written as a sum of two operators C = A + B. Then we can relate the semigroups generated by A and B with the semigroup generated by C as follows (see [20, Corollary 5.8]).

**Theorem 5.3.1** (Trotter product formula). Let  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  and  $(S_t)_{t\geq 0}$  be strongly continuous semigroups on a Banach space X satisfying the stability condition

$$\|[T_{t/N}S_{t/n}]^N\| \leqslant Me^{wt}, \text{ for all } t \ge 0, N \in \mathbb{N}$$

for some constants  $M \ge 1, w \in \mathbb{R}$ . Consider the sum A + B on  $D := D(A) \cap D(B)$ of the generators (A, D(A)) of  $(T_t)_{t\ge 0}$  and (B, D(B)) of  $(S_t)_{t\ge 0}$ , and assume that Dand  $(\lambda_0 - A - B)D$  are dense in X for some  $\lambda_0 \ge w$ . Then the closure of the sum of these two operators C := A + B generates a strongly continuous semigroup  $(U_t)_{t\ge 0}$ given by the Trotter product formula

$$U_{t}x = \lim_{N \to \infty} [T_{t/N}S_{t/N}]^{N}x$$
(5.3.1)

with uniform convergence for t on compact intervals.

As Séguin and Mansouri observed, in most of cases the expression  $[T(t/N)S(t/N)]^N$ is too complicated to be described explicitly. But in the special case when the operators satisfy some additional conditions and the Banach space X is a nice function space such as  $L^p \leq p < \infty$ , (see [41, Section 3.3] for details), (5.3.1) takes the form

$$U_t f = T_t f + \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{t}{N} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} T_{t/N}^{N-k} B T_{t/N}^k \right) f + \mathcal{O}(t^2) f,$$

where  $\mathcal{O}(t^2)$  is an operator  $D_t$  acting on f such that  $||D_t f||_{L^1} \leq Mt^2 ||f||_{L^1}$  for a constant M and for all t small enough.

Note that main result in [41, Theorem 1] uses a number of assumptions formulated on [41, p.3904]. Some of them are ambiguous (such as Assumption 1 which does not address the issue of the domains of unbounded operators), therefore we would like to use more concrete decompositions we have as a result of using Kirillov's orbit method. Namely, we consider the semigroup with the generator  $\widehat{\Delta}_{H}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$  on  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ defined by (4.2.6). That is, we would like to write  $\widehat{\Delta}_{H}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$  as a sum  $A^{l} + B^{l}$  which are generators of the semigroups  $\{T_{t}^{l}\}_{t\geq 0}$  and  $\{S_{t}^{l}\}_{t\geq 0}$  respectively, and which satisfy the following assumptions similar to [41, Proposition 3]. Note that they base their analysis on the terminology of [1] which in particular leads to potential issues with [41, Theorem 1]. But in our setting the direct integral terminology is not necessary, and in particular, all operators and their semigroups are defined on  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$ , that is, on a space which does not depend on  $\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}$ . That is, in the case of nilpotent groups dependence on elements in the unitary dual  $\widehat{G}$  is much easier to track. 1. For each  $t \geqslant 0, \, T^l_t$  is an integral operator with kernel  $h^l_t(x,y)$ 

$$(T_t^l f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} h_t^l(x, y) f(y) dy,$$

2. There exists an integrable function  $H_{t/N}^l(x, y)$ , uniformly bounded in x by an integrable function  $G_t^l(x, y)$  for all  $N \ge 1$ , such that

$$(t/N)\left(\left(T_{t/N}^{l}\right)^{N}B^{l}+\ldots+T_{t/N}^{l}B^{l}\left(T_{t/N}^{l}\right)^{N-1}\right)f(x)=\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}}H_{t/N}^{l}(x,y)f(y)dy.$$

Then [41, Theorem 1] can be interpreted as follows. The operator  $\widehat{\Delta}_{H}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})$  is the generator of the semigroup  $e^{t\widehat{\Delta}_{H}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})}$  which is an integral operator on  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n-k}, dx)$  which can be written as the following expression for all small enough t

$$\left(e^{t\widehat{\Delta_{H}}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right)}f\right)(x) =$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-k}} \left(h_{t}^{l}(x,y) + t\lim_{N\to\infty} H_{t/N}^{l}(x,y)\right)f(y)dy + \left(\mathcal{O}(t^{3/2})f\right)(x),$$

$$(5.3.2)$$

where the integral kernels  $h_t^l$  and  $H_t^l$  are defined above, and as before  $\mathcal{O}(t^{3/2})f$  is an operator  $D_t$  acting on f, such that  $||D_t f||_{L^1} \leq Mt^2 ||f||_{L^1}$  for a constant M and for all small enough t. Combining this with the reduced heat kernel introduced in Remark 5.1.3, we see that

$$k_t^l(x,y) = h_t^l(x,y) + t \lim_{N \to \infty} H_{t/N}^l(x,y) + \mathcal{O}(t^2).$$

Recall that for the Heisenberg group  $H_3$  and the group  $G_{n+1}$ 

$$\widehat{\Delta_H}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right) = \Delta - V_l,$$

where  $V_l$  is a positive polynomial potential on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$ . Let

$$(A^l f)(x) := \Delta f(x) = f''(x)$$

and  $B^l$  be the multiplication operator

$$\left(B^{l}f\right)(x) := V_{l}(x) f(x).$$

We can write  $V_l(x)$  as

$$V_{l}(x) = -\left(a_{2m}^{l}x^{2m} + a_{2m-1}^{l}x^{2m-1} + \dots + a_{2}^{l}x^{2} + a_{1}^{l}x^{1} + a_{0}^{l}\right),$$

where m is the degree of the polynomial  $V_l(x)$ , and  $a_{2m}^l$  and  $a_0^l$  are positive constants. Then [41, Corollary 2] is applicable, the equation (5.3.2) becomes

$$\left(e^{t\widehat{\Delta}_{H}(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}})}f\right)(x) = (5.3.3)$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-\frac{(x-y)^{2}}{4t}} \left(1 - a_{0}^{l}t - t\sum_{k=1}^{2m} \frac{a_{k}^{l}}{k+1} \sum_{i=0}^{k} x^{i}y^{k-i}\right) f(y)dy + \mathcal{O}(t^{3/2})f(x)$$

for  $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ . It is clear that for more general Schrödinger-like operators in Theorem 5.1.1 this approach can be used as well without making additional assumptions.

## **5.3.1** Application to the *n*-step nilpotent Lie group $G_{n+1}$

Recall that for  $G_{n+1}$  the operator  $\widehat{\Delta_H}$  is

$$\left(\widehat{\Delta_{H}}\left(\pi_{l,\mathfrak{m}}\right)\right)f\left(x\right) = f''\left(x\right) - V_{l}\left(x\right)f\left(x\right), f \in C_{c}\left(G_{n+1}\right),$$

where by (5.2.1) the potential is given by

$$V_{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}}(x) = 4\pi^2 \left( \frac{\lambda_{n-1}}{(n-1)!} x^{n-1} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-2} \frac{\lambda_j}{(j-1)!} x^{j-1} \right)^2.$$

We will use the following notation

$$\mathbf{\Lambda}_k := (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_k).$$

Then as we mentioned previously

$$A^{\Lambda_{n-1}}f(x) = f''(x),$$
  
$$\left(B^{\Lambda_{n-1}}f\right)(x) = -\left(\lambda_n \frac{x^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-2} \lambda_j \frac{x^{j-1}}{(j-1)!}\right)^2 f(x).$$

Therefore the coefficients of the polynomial potential are

$$a_k^{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}} := \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} \lambda_i \lambda_{k+2-i}, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, 2(n-1).$$

Finally, we use (5.3.3) to see that

$$\left(e^{\widehat{\Delta_{H}}^{\Lambda_{n-1}}}f\right)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-\frac{(x-y)^{2}}{4t}} \left(1 - \lambda_{1}^{2}t - t\sum_{k=1}^{2(n-1)} \frac{\sum_{l=1}^{k+1} \lambda_{l}\lambda_{k+2-l}}{k+1} \sum_{i=0}^{k} x^{i}y^{k-i}\right) f(y)dy + \left(\mathcal{O}(t^{3/2})f\right)(x)$$

with the reduced heat kernel being

$$\begin{split} k_t^{\Lambda_{n-1}}(x,y) &= \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-\frac{(x-y)^2}{4t}} \left( 1 - \lambda_1^2 t - t \sum_{k=1}^{2(n-1)} \frac{\sum_{l=1}^{k+1} \lambda_l \lambda_{k+2-l}}{k+1} \sum_{i=0}^k x^i y^{k-i} \right) + \mathcal{O}(t^{3/2}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-\frac{(x-y)^2}{4t}} \left( 1 - \lambda_1^2 t - t \sum_{k=1}^{2(n-1)} \frac{\sum_{l=1}^{k+1} \lambda_l \lambda_{k+2-l}}{k+1} \sum_{i=0}^k x^i y^{k-i} + \mathcal{O}(t^2) \right), \end{split}$$

where we used that  $\mathcal{O}(t^{-1/2})\mathcal{O}(t^2) = \mathcal{O}(t^{3/2})$ . Now we can use Theorem 5.2.2 to see that the hypoelliptic kernel is given by

$$p_t(a, \mathbf{z}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_k B_k(x, \mathbf{z})\right)} |\lambda_{n-1}| k_t^{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}} \left(x+a, x\right) dx d\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1},$$

therefore

$$p_t(a, \mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-\frac{a^2}{4t}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_k B_k\right)} \times \left[ 1 - \lambda_1^2 t - t \sum_{k=1}^{2(n-1)} \frac{\sum_{l=1}^{k+1} \lambda_l \lambda_{k+2-l}}{k+1} \sum_{i=0}^k (x+a)^i x^{k-i} + \mathcal{O}(t^2) \right]$$
$$dx |\lambda_{n-1}| d\mathbf{\Lambda}_{n-1}.$$

Denote by  $P_{2(n-1)}$  the polynomial of degree 2(n-1)

$$P_{2(n-1)}(x,a) := \lambda_1 + \sum_{k=1}^{2(n-1)} \frac{\sum_{l=1}^{k+1} \lambda_l \lambda_{k+2-l}}{k+1} \sum_{i=0}^k (x+a)^i x^{k-i}.$$

Choosing the substitution

$$1 - tP_{2(n-1)}(x,a) = e^{-tP_{2(n-1)}(x,a)} + \mathcal{O}(t^2),$$

we get the following expression

$$p_{t}(a, \mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-\frac{a^{2}}{4t}} \times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_{k} B_{k}\right)} \left(e^{-tP_{2(n-1)}(x,a)} + \mathcal{O}(t^{2})\right) dx |\lambda_{n-1}| d\lambda_{n-1} d\Lambda_{n-2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-\frac{a^{2}}{4t}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_{k} B_{k}\right)} e^{-tP_{2(n-1)}(x,a)} dx |\lambda_{n-1}| d\lambda_{n-1} d\Lambda_{n-2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} e^{-\frac{a^{2}}{4t}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_{k} B_{k}\right)} \mathcal{O}(t^{2}) dx |\lambda_{n-1}| d\lambda_{n-1} d\Lambda_{n-2}.$$

The first part is a  $C^{\infty}$  function, and one can use special functions to find a more explicit form of this integral. The second integral is also a  $C^{\infty}$  function which is of order  $\mathcal{O}(t^{3/2})$ .

## Bibliography

- Andrei Agrachev, Ugo Boscain, Jean-Paul Gauthier, and Francesco Rossi, The intrinsic hypoelliptic Laplacian and its heat kernel on unimodular Lie groups, J. Funct. Anal. 256 (2009), no. 8, 2621–2655. MR 2502528 (2010c:58042)
- [2] Malva Asaad and Maria Gordina, Hypoelliptic heat kernels on nilpotent lie groups, Potential Analysis (2016), 1–32.
- [3] Zoltán M. Balogh, Matthieu Rickly, and Francesco Serra Cassano, Comparison of Hausdorff measures with respect to the Euclidean and the Heisenberg metric, Publ. Mat. 47 (2003), no. 1, 237–259. MR 1970902 (2004e:28007)
- [4] Fabrice Baudoin and Michel Bonnefont, The subelliptic heat kernel on SU(2): representations, asymptotics and gradient bounds, Math. Z. 263 (2009), no. 3, 647–672. MR 2545862 (2011d:58060)
- [5] Richard Beals, Bernard Gaveau, and Peter C. Greiner, Hamilton-Jacobi theory and the heat kernel on Heisenberg groups, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 79 (2000), no. 7, 633–689. MR 1776501

- [6] A. Bonfiglioli, E. Lanconelli, and F. Uguzzoni, Stratified Lie groups and potential theory for their sub-Laplacians, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer, Berlin, 2007. MR 2363343
- [7] Ugo Boscain, Jean Duplaix, Jean-Paul Gauthier, and Francesco Rossi, Image reconstruction via hypoelliptic diffusion on the bundle of directions of the plane, Mathematical image processing, Springer Proc. Math., vol. 5, Springer, Heidelberg, 2011, pp. 75–90. MR 2867521
- [8] Ugo Boscain and Sergio Polidoro, Gaussian estimates for hypoelliptic operators via optimal control, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. Rend. Lincei
  (9) Mat. Appl. 18 (2007), no. 4, 333–342. MR 2349990
- U. Boskèin, Zh.-P. Got'e, and F. Rossi, The hypoelliptic heat kernel over threestep nilpotent Lie groups, Sovrem. Mat. Fundam. Napravl. 42 (2011), 48–61. MR 3013827
- [10] Luca Capogna, Donatella Danielli, Scott D. Pauls, and Jeremy T. Tyson, An introduction to the Heisenberg group and the sub-Riemannian isoperimetric problem, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 259, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2007. MR 2312336 (2009a:53053)
- [11] Wei-Liang Chow, Uber Systeme von linearen partiellen Differentialgleichungen erster Ordnung, Math. Ann. 117 (1939), 98–105. MR 0001880 (1,313d)
- [12] G. Citti and A. Sarti, A cortical based model of perceptual completion in the roto-translation space, J. Math. Imaging Vision 24 (2006), no. 3, 307–326. MR 2235475

- [13] Lawrence Corwin, Tempered distributions on Heisenberg groups whose convolution with Schwartz class functions is Schwartz class, J. Funct. Anal. 44 (1981), no. 3, 328–347. MR 643038 (84i:22010)
- [14] Lawrence J. Corwin and Frederick P. Greenleaf, *Representations of nilpotent Lie groups and their applications. Part I*, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 18, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990, Basic theory and examples. MR 1070979 (92b:22007)
- [15] Emilie David-Guillou, Schwartz functions, tempered distributions, and kernel theorem on solvable lie groups, to appear in Ann. Inst. Fourier.
- [16] E. B. Davies, *Heat kernels and spectral theory*, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 92, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1989. MR 990239 (90e:35123)
- [17] Semi Dhieb and Jean Ludwig, Caractérisation des convoluteurs de Schwartz des groupes de Lie nilpotents, J. Funct. Anal. 144 (1997), no. 1, 46–63. MR 1430715 (98f:22009)
- [18] J. Dixmier, Sur les représentations unitaires des groupes de Lie nilpotents. I, Amer. J. Math. 81 (1959), 160–170. MR 0103943 (21 #2705)
- [19] Jacques Dixmier and Paul Malliavin, Factorisations de fonctions et de vecteurs indéfiniment différentiables, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 102 (1978), no. 4, 307–330. MR 517765 (80f:22005)
- [20] Klaus-Jochen Engel and Rainer Nagel, One-parameter semigroups for linear evolution equations, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 194, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000, With contributions by S. Brendle, M. Campiti, T. Hahn, G.

Metafune, G. Nickel, D. Pallara, C. Perazzoli, A. Rhandi, S. Romanelli and R. Schnaubelt. MR 1721989 (2000i:47075)

- [21] G. B. Folland and E. M. Stein, Estimates for the ∂<sub>b</sub> complex and analysis on the Heisenberg group, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 27 (1974), 429–522. MR 0367477 (51 #3719)
- [22] Gerald B. Folland, A course in abstract harmonic analysis, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1995. MR MR1397028 (98c:43001)
- [23] Bernard Gaveau, Principe de moindre action, propagation de la chaleur et estimées sous elliptiques sur certains groupes nilpotents, Acta Math. 139 (1977), no. 1-2, 95–153. MR 0461589 (57 #1574)
- [24] Roe Goodman, Complex Fourier analysis on a nilpotent Lie group, Trans. Amer.
   Math. Soc. 160 (1971), 373–391. MR 0417334 (54 #5390)
- [25] Roe W. Goodman, Analytic and entire vectors for representations of Lie groups, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 143 (1969), 55–76. MR 0248285 (40 #1537)
- [26] Maria Gordina and Thomas Laetsch, A convergence to Brownian motion on sub-Riemannian manifolds, submitted, 2014.
- [27] \_\_\_\_\_, Sub-Laplacians on Sub-Riemannian Manifolds, Potential Anal. 44 (2016), no. 4, 811–837. MR 3490551
- [28] Lars Hörmander, Hypoelliptic second order differential equations, Acta Math.
   119 (1967), 147–171. MR 0222474 (36 #5526)

- [29] A. Hulanicki, The distribution of energy in the Brownian motion in the Gaussian field and analytic-hypoellipticity of certain subelliptic operators on the Heisenberg group, Studia Math. 56 (1976), no. 2, 165–173. MR 0418257
- [30] Andrzej Hulanicki and Joe W. Jenkins, Nilpotent Lie groups and summability of eigenfunction expansions of Schrödinger operators, Studia Math. 80 (1984), no. 3, 235–244. MR 783992 (86h:22014)
- [31] \_\_\_\_\_, Nilpotent Lie groups and eigenfunction expansions of Schrödinger operators. II, Studia Math. 87 (1987), no. 3, 239–252. MR 927507 (89f:22015)
- [32] David S. Jerison and Antonio Sánchez-Calle, Estimates for the heat kernel for a sum of squares of vector fields, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 35 (1986), no. 4, 835–854.
   MR 865430 (88c:58064)
- [33] A. A. Kirillov, Unitary representations of nilpotent Lie groups, Uspehi Mat. Nauk
   17 (1962), no. 4 (106), 57–110. MR 0142001 (25 #5396)
- [34] \_\_\_\_\_, Lectures on the orbit method, Graduate Studies in Mathematics,
   vol. 64, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2004. MR 2069175
   (2005c:22001)
- [35] Richard Montgomery, A tour of subriemannian geometries, their geodesics and applications, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 91, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2002. MR 1867362 (2002m:53045)
- [36] Edward Nelson, Analytic vectors, Ann. of Math. (2) 70 (1959), 572–615. MR
   0107176 (21 #5901)

- [37] Jean Petitot and Yannick Tondut, Vers une neurogéométrie. Fibrations corticales, structures de contact et contours subjectifs modaux, Math. Inform. Sci. Humaines (1999), no. 145, 5–101. MR 1697185
- [38] L. Pukánszky, Leçons sur les représentations des groupes, Monographies de la Société Mathématique de France, No. 2, Dunod, Paris, 1967. MR 0217220 (36 #311)
- [39] P. Rashevski, Any two points of a totally nonholonomic space may be connected by an admissible line, Uch. Zap. Ped. Inst. im. Liebknechta, Ser. Phys. Math. 2 (1938), 83–84 (russian).
- [40] Linda Preiss Rothschild and E. M. Stein, Hypoelliptic differential operators and nilpotent groups, Acta Math. 137 (1976), no. 3-4, 247–320. MR 0436223 (55 #9171)
- [41] C. Séguin and A. Mansouri, Short-time asymptotics of heat kernels of hypoelliptic Laplacians on unimodular Lie groups, J. Funct. Anal. 262 (2012), no. 9, 3891– 3928. MR 2899982
- [42] Chiara Spina, Kernel estimates for Markov semigroups and parabolic Schrödinger operators, Ph.D. thesis, Universit'a del Salento, 2008.
- [43] A. F. M. ter Elst and Derek W. Robinson, Reduced heat kernels on nilpotent Lie groups, Comm. Math. Phys. 173 (1995), no. 3, 475–511. MR 1357987 (98c:22008)
- [44] N. Th. Varopoulos, L. Saloff-Coste, and T. Coulhon, Analysis and geometry on groups, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992. MR 95f:43008

- [45] Michèle Vergne, Construction de sous-algèbres subordonnées à un élément du dual d'une algèbre de Lie résoluble, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B 270 (1970), A173–A175. MR 0254113 (40 #7323)
- [46] \_\_\_\_\_, Construction de sous-algèbres subordonnées à un élément du dual d'une algèbre de Lie résoluble, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B 270 (1970), A704–A707.
   MR 0255628 (41 #288)